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Vision
The company’s vision is to develop 
a leading and profitable oil and gas 
company that actively contributes to 
industrial value creation in Northern 
Norway.
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			   2010	 2009 	 2008 	 2007

Exploration costs		  NOK million	 – 179.049	 – 113.098	 – 62.789	 0
Payroll costs		  NOK million	 – 62.149	 – 62.370	 – 41.696	 – 0.752
Profit/loss for the year after tax	 NOK million	 – 62.916	 – 64.417	 – 39.277	 – 6.879

Balance sheet total		  NOK million	 638.056	 242,299	 146.904	 41.682
Working capital		  NOK million	 397.437	 136,276	 95,164	 34.899
Equity ratio			   75 %	 63 %	 77 %	 96 %
Cash flow before financing		 NOK million	 – 246.137	 – 95,638	 – 129.444	 – 28.139

Number of shares			   25,149,736	 9,200,970	 581,122	 15,000
Nominal value per share		  NOK	 1	 1	 10	 100
Share price		  NOK	 22.8
Market capitalisation		  NOK million	 573.4
Employees			   43	 38	 31	 1
Licences (operatorships)			   21 (2)	 8 (1)	 0	 0

Key figures

Shareholder composition

Northern Norway
45 %

UK
25 %

Other Europe
10 %

Other Norway
20 %
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Values, goals and strategies

Our values

North Energy has four core values that 
characterise our activities through our 
actions and words:

•	 To be at the forefront – to be innova-
tive and alternative, develop new ideas, 
solutions and technologies, to be the 
first to show the way

•	 To be competent – to possess state-of-
the-art knowledge, to be a reference for 
others through our actions and words, 
to set a good example

•	 To be a bridge-builder – to bring 
people together, to point out the main 
directions, to be a preferred partner, 
focus and facilitate

•	 To be a fearless voice in the North – to 
dare to say what we think is right and 
speak out for the Northern Norway 
community

Goals and strategies

North Energy’s goal is to create value 
for its shareholders and contribute to 
ripple effects onshore by participating in 
exploration, development and produc-
tion activities off the coast of Central and 
Northern Norway. 

The company’s core activities involve the 
development of profitable and sustain-
able petroleum operations in Northern 
Norway, where the central focus is on 
facilitating local activity and ripple effects 
throughout the region.

North Energy’s main strategies

•	 To establish and develop a profitable oil 
and gas company through the acquisi-
tion and allocation of the best licences 
in the northern part of the Norwegian 
North Sea and the Barents Sea.

•	 To ensure an adequate capital base to 
sustain the company throughout the 
entire value chain.

•	 To ensure access to profitable invest-
ment opportunities by being an attrac
tive partner for the authorities and 
leading oil companies.

•	 To be a credible partner for important 
stakeholders, such as suppliers, the fish-
ing industry and environmental groups.

The company  has prospects with a high 
probability for discoveries located near 
existing infrastructure in its portfolio. 
In addition, the company stresses the 
importance of further optimisation of the 
portfolio through licensing rounds and 
buying and selling licences.

Oil and gas activities in these northern 
areas require a high level of oil pollution 
preparedness along the coast and a 
close dialogue with representatives from 
coastal communities. North Energy has 
contributed to the development of a spe-
cial concept for these areas in coopera-
tion with a number of entities.

North Energy has chosen to focus sys-
tematically on innovative solutions. Close 
contact with the supplier industry and 
technology environments helps the com-
pany optimise opportunities and plans for 
further research and development. The 
company develops skills that are required 
to make decisions along the entire value 
chain that characterises the petroleum 
industry, within a long-term and environ-
mental perspective.

Our roots in Northern Norway make us a 
different kind of company. One of North 
Energy’s strengths is the fact that it has 
knowledge of how different topics are 
perceived among the people along the 
coast through its local roots. The compa-
ny would, therefore, like to be a discussion 
partner for the creation of value based on 
oil and gas in the North. A shared under-
standing of attitudes and views provides 
a good basis for constructive dialogue on 
specific activities, plans and challenges.



Historic milestones
2007	 September:	 North Energy was established on the banks of the Alta River
	 November:	 Erik Karlstrøm takes office as the Chief Executive Officer
	 2007 – 2009:	 Financed by capital from Northern Norway

2008	 August:	 Prequalified as a licensee
	 December:	 Awarded two licences in the APA 2008

2009	 March:	 Prequalified as an operator
	 April:	 Awarded four licences in 20th round, including an operatorship
	 2nd half of the year	 Acquired two licences
	 December:	 Awarded three licences in the APA 2009

2010	 February:	 NOK 400 million in financing raised
		  Listed on Oslo Axess
		  Acquisition of 4sea energy 
	 April: 	 Discovery in PL 433 Fogelberg
	 October:	 Acquisition of PL 341 Stirby 
	 December:	 Sub-commercial discovery of hydrocarbons in Stirby

2011	 January:	 Awarded five licences in the APA 2010
	 February:	 North Energy grows to 50 employees 

Photo: Thomas Bjørnflaten
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Important events

Events in 2010

Successful capital increase and stock 
exchange listing
North Energy was listed on Oslo Axess on 
5 February after a successful oversubscri-
bed new issue of NOK 350 million.

Acquisition of 4sea energy AS
All the shares of 4sea energy AS were 
acquired in February.

Discovery on first attempt
Drilling in PL 433 Fogelberg started in 
February with North Energy as a 12 per 
cent partner. 

Hydrocarbons were discovered in Fogel-
berg as early as March.

Tight formations in Stirby
North Energy acquired an 11 per cent in-
terest in PL 341 Stirby on 29 October. One 
month later hydrocarbons were proven in 
the deeper portion of the licence. In De-
cember the discovery was declared sub-
commercial due to tight formations. The 
opportunities in the upper portion where 
the licence’s main reservoir is located are 
still under assessment.

Events to date in 2011 

New exploration loan facility of 
NOK 760 million
In January 2011 an agreement was ente-
red into with DnB NOR and SEB relating 
to an exploration loan facility of NOK 760 
million, with DnB NOR leading the syndi-

cate of banks. BNP Paribas subsequently 
joined the syndicate. 

Licence allocations for the APA 2010 
– North Energy once again among the 
winners
In January 2011 North Energy was awar-
ded two licences in the Barents Sea, two 
licences in the Norwegian Sea and one 
in the North Sea. The allocation included 
the operatorship of PL 590 Mikkeli in the 
Norwegian Sea.

Acquisition of a new licence
In March 2011, the company acquired 10 
per cent of PL 370 Kakelborg and increa-
sed at the same time its interest in PL 385 
Jette from 15 per cent to 35 per cent.



North Energy - 2010 Annual Report  |  9

Photo: Thomas Bjørnflaten

CEO’s comments:

“We are starting in earnest now”

The year 2010 was the year when 
North Energy became an operative oil 
company and participated in the drill-
ing of the two first wells out of a total of 
eight wells that represented the basis 
for the establishment of the company. 
These wells were also the background 
for raising capital at the start of the 
year. 

The stock exchange listing and raising 
of capital in February, as well as the start 
of drilling at Fogelberg in the following 
month, represented important long-
planned milestones in the development 
of North Energy. The company would not 
have looked like it does today without 
these events, which, like the milestones 
in 2008 and 2009, were reached around 
one year earlier than assumed in the 
company’s first plan from 2007. After new 
awards and acquisitions in 2010, we now 
have 21 licences and are around one year 
ahead of our original plans.

New capital to finance the eight fixed 
wells, new professional investors from 
Norway and abroad, and a stock ex-
change listing, marked the end of our first 
phase in 2010, which made it necessary 
for us to look ahead towards new goals. 
With a higher level of activity than envi-
sioned in 2007 as its point of departure, 
the Board of Directors and management 
team extended the company’s plans 
beyond 2012 based on assumptions con-
cerning new areas in the eastern Barents 
Sea, as well as in Lofoten and Vesterålen. 

Our new strategy development work 
resulted in goals for value creation and 
growth that are more ambitious than the 
goals that existed during our capitalisation 
early in 2010. The higher level of activity 
also enables us to use additional resourc-
es on portfolio optimisation and the 
acquisition and sale of licences, including 
North Sea licences. During the first three 
years, North Energy has advanced along 
the value chain faster than envisioned. 

Our local presence – a competitive 
advantage 
Organisational growth throughout 2009 
and 2010 followed the development of our 
activities through the acquisition and sale 
of licences from a new satellite office in 
Stavanger and the establishment of offices, 
first in Bodø, and then lastly an office in 
Tromsø. The decisions to establish new of-
fices were made based on North Energy’s 
experiences with new communication 
technology and the fact that the oil-related 
activities in Norway are in the process of 
spreading northwards along the coast. 

Spreading out our employees and offices 
may be challenging organisationally and 
with respect to communication, but for us 
it represents an important competitive ad-
vantage at the same time. Recognition of 
the fact that the activities along the coast 
start up before the areas are opened is a 
prerequisite for being able to participate in 
the first wave of awards along the coast. 
Being first in the battle for the best blocks 
is one of North Energy’s most important 
criteria for success. 

Valuable dialogue
Since the establishment of the company, 
North Energy has sought to contribute 
to increasing the creation of value locally 
and good industrial solutions. Throughout 
2010 and 2011 North Energy has focused 
on these efforts in relation to the fishing 
interests in Lofoten and Vesterålen in 
order to contribute expertise with respect 
to obtaining new knowledge and estab-
lishing a growing understanding of the 
shared responsibility for stewardship that 
lies with all the members of the business 
community in this vulnerable area. 

It is a great challenge to work with the 
distribution of factual information with 
respect to an issue where the national 
and local media focus on feelings and 
contradictions. In this minefield, many 
external entities create a profile through 

continuous attempts to polarise any 
issues that exist between the petroleum 
industry and other business sectors in 
Lofoten and Vesterålen. 

The establishment of a Dialogue Forum 
for fishing and petroleum in Lofoten and 
Vesterålen in connection with our newly 
established office in Bodø is an example 
of establishing a presence before the 
opening of an area. For many people in 
Nordland, this was their first real encoun-
ter with North Energy. Gradually as this 
forum developed into a workshop for new 
ideas among fishermen, the fishermen 
and their organisations also got to know 
an oil company that dealt with the north-
ern regions differently than the major 
international companies. 

The fishermen can now talk directly with 
decision-makers who come from the 
region and who will remain there during 
the establishment of activities. When the 
oil and gas activities end some time in 
the future, those who participated in this 
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forum for dialogue will probably long 
since have entrusted the coming genera-
tions with this responsibility. The next 
generation is already threatening to leave 
the region, while we see that the northern 
regions will be able to supply fossil energy 
for at least three generations to come, 
before a renewable alternative has hope-
fully been established. It is also important 
to our industry that people still live here 
who can help preserve and build coastal 
communities in Lofoten and Vesterålen, 
as well as the coast of Finnmark when-
ever new activities are established.

The Øksnes requirements came from the 
Dialogue Forum. This can be classified as 
the first attempt at a proactive approach 
to shared stewardship of oil and fish 
in Lofoten and Vesterålen, which does 
not exist outside of Northern Norway. 
Attempts have long been made to make 
Lofoten and Vesterålen a symbol of 
protection against activities by centralised 
forces that can be carried out at no own 
cost in areas far far away. 

Recognition of the importance of 
the northern regions to Norway’s 
energy policy
What is becoming more and more 
obvious as time passes is the fact that 
Lofoten and Vesterålen will play a key 
role in the process towards access to the 
gas resources in the entire Barents Sea. 
Without pipelines that are financed by 
new discoveries off the coast of Nordland 
and Troms, we will be forced to use LNG 
(Liquefied Natural Gas) or acquire access 
to Russian pipelines to Europe. LNG 
requires larger gas deposits than pipeline 
access. Lofoten and Vesterålen will thus 
be critically important to the development 
of all of Northern Norway and Norway’s 
role as a supplier of gas to Europe. 

It is clearly evident from an analysis 
report on the northern regions that was 
prepared in 2010 that we are no longer 
talking about a sparsely populated 
playground for symbolic policies. The 
analysis was prepared by North Energy in 
dialogue with Gassco, Statnett and other 
important premise providers in the North 
on behalf of the Barents Secretariat and 

the three northernmost county authori-
ties. This report will be presented in its 
entirety in 2011 and defines Lofoten and 
Vesterålen as a very decisive element in 
an energy policy perspective with clearly 
positive global climate consequences.

Drilling of wells and building up a 
portfolio 
The two most important events for North 
Energy in 2010 were the drilling of the 
two first wells. In PL 433 the Fogelberg 
prospect was drilled with North Energy 
as a partner and a 12 per cent ownership 
interest. At the end of March 2010 the 
discovery of hydrocarbons in the licence 
was reported, and, as time has passed, all 
indications point towards a commercially 
viable field. We are currently working 
on the formal start-up of the Plan for 
Development and Operation (PDO) pro
cess. Our goal is to make a conclusion in 
the middle of 2011 whether work on a PDO 
can continue without drilling additional 
wells. The licence partners are working 
well together with the operator Centrica. 

In October 2010, North Energy acquired 
an 11 per cent interest in PL 341 Stirby 
in the North Sea. Drilling had already 
started, and hydrocarbons were proven in 
the deeper portion of the well. A major-
ity of the licence partners declared the 
deposit to be sub-commercial, primarily 
due to the tight formations. There was no 
consensus among the licence partners 
with regard to the potential or closing the 
well, but North Energy did not manage to 
obtain enough support for its view. Now 
we are gathering valuable experience 
from this event. In licences with many 
small co-owners it is important to find 
good allies with common goals and good 
technical expertise. In 2011 North Energy 
will focus more on potential cooperation 
and alliance partners. 

PL 433 Fogelberg and PL 341 Stirby are 
the two first wells in licences where North 
Energy has acquired interests from other 
companies. Three other licences with 
wells were acquired in 2010, and two new 
acquisitions have already been made 
in 2011. Acquisitions should go hand in 
hand with the allocation of new licences, 
and five new licences and the company’s 

second operatorship were allocated to 
North Energy through the APA 2010. 
We hit the jackpot with respect to the 
company’s application and an evaluation 
of the company’s expertise as an operator 
by the authorities. North Energy has thus 
21 licences.

Good team spirit during an exciting 
waiting period
Being the CEO of North Energy is a 
challenge that consists of more than just 
making sure that the owners’ capital is 
used in projects with the greatest possible 
potential for the creation of value at the 
lowest possible price and with the lowest 
possible risk of a loss. Anyone who is 
involved in exploration for oil and gas 
knows that the motivation that drives all of 
us to do our best is put to the test during 
a period without any exploration drilling 
after a disappointing result from a well. 

I observe that those of us who work for 
North Energy are very motivated and 
hungry for success. For us the waiting 
period after the disappointing result from 
the well at Stirby late in 2010 has been 
long. It is good to ascertain then that no 
one is getting sick from a lack of motiva-
tion at North Energy. Our absence due to 
illness is far below one per cent. 

We are, however, waiting impatiently for 
an uninterrupted series of wells that will 
start in April 2011. Some of these wells will 
also be dry, but then the owners, Board of 
Directors and those of us who work here 
will be able to look forward to the next 
well in the portfolio that will in time give 
North Energy a discovery at a lower cost 
than that of most of our competitors. A 
good organisation stands together as a 
team, whether they win or lose. That is the 
team spirit we want at North Energy, and I 
think we will win. 

It has been exciting to be the CEO of 
North Energy up to now, and we have 
achieved many important goals – but we 
are starting in earnest now!

Erik Karlstrøm
Chief Executive Officer
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Social responsibility and ethics:

A responsible player on the Norwegian 
continental shelf

Operating responsibly and with integ-
rity, we are committed to contributing 
to the positive development of our 
society in the North, without compro-
mising the interests of our owners. 

North Energy’s Corporate Social Responsi
bility (CSR) will be a vital part of what 
we have formulated as our “Licence to 
Operate” on the Norwegian continental 
shelf. 

The International Standards Organisation, 
ISO, has prepared an international stand-
ard for social responsibility (ISO 26000) 
that provides guidelines for how organi-
sations can act in a socially responsible 
manner in accordance with the require-
ments posed by society. North Energy’s 
guidelines for corporate social responsibil-
ity are in accordance with the recommen-
dations in ISO 26000. 

North Energy is committed to:
•	 Looking after the interests of our stake-

holders: owners, employees, business 
associates and the various communi-
ties where we operate.

•	 Practising corporate governance in ac-
cordance with Norwegian company law 
and the Norwegian Code of Practice for 
Corporate Governance.

•	 Having practices that ensure openness, 
anticorruption measures and respect 
for human rights and standards for 
working life.

•	 Operating responsibly and with integ-
rity, so that we contribute to a positive 
development of society in the North.

•	 Contributing to the creation of regional 
and national value.

How do we fulfil these 
commitments?
•	 North Energy, with its roots in Northern 

Norway, places a special focus on 
applying its northern expertise when 
encountering northern challenges. 
Hence we have a particular focus on 
environmental conditions in the North, 
which is expressed in our environ
mental strategy.

•	 We inform the public of conditions 
related to the industry and environment 
in the North.

•	 We identify needs, expectations, 
development opportunities and com-
pensatory measures based on dialogue 
with our stakeholders, as well as risk 
and impact analyses.

•	 We support education and competence 
building within oil and gas-related 
subject areas in order to create lasting 
knowledge and competence.

•	 We ensure that our activities with re-
spect to Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) are planned in a professional 
manner and integrate them into our 
business planning.

•	 We follow up on the execution of CSR 
activities and measure the effects of the 
measures we undertake, both internally 
and externally.

•	 We work with promoting a diverse 
working environment, by recruiting and 
developing employees of both genders, 
in different living situations and with 
different backgrounds.
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Exploration activities and portfolio

From the start North Energy has built up 
a portfolio of licences in the Barents Sea, 
Norwegian Sea and North Sea. After the 
allocations in the APA 2010 and acquisi-
tion of PL 370, the company has a total 
of 21 licences. Most of the licences have 
been allocated through licensing rounds. 

North Energy has focused in particular on 
growth in the North, and this is reflected 
in turn in the portfolio. It is in the Barents 

Sea in particular that North Energy can 
show a level of activity on par with much 
larger companies.  

Drilling of two wells in 2010
Drilling of the Fogelberg prospect in 
PL 433 in the Norwegian Sea resulted 
in a gas and condensate discovery that 
will likely be developed. The discovery is 
located near existing infrastructure, and, 

Licences

since there is ongoing work to establish 
transport solutions in the area, North 
Energy is very positive about the future 
of the Fogelberg discovery. Unfortunately, 
drilling in the Stirby prospect in PL 341 
in the North Sea proved negative. But 
the drilling did prove that the licence is 
situated in a prospective area, and we 
are working on the evaluation of several 
prospects in the block, which is very large 
in area.
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Geographic distribution of licences

Summary of licences

Growth in the number of licences from start-up

Licence	 Interest	 Operator	 Well

Barents Sea

PL 518	 30 %	 Dong	 2011
PL 518 B	 30 %	 Dong	
PL 530	 20 %	 GdFSuez	 2011
PL 535	 20 %	 Total	 2011
PL 536	 20 %	 Statoil	 DoD
PL 564	 20 %	 OMV	 DoD
PL 594	 20 %	 Statoil	 DoD
PL 595	 40 %	 Edison	 DoD

Norwegian Sea

PL 385	 35 %	 Statoil	 2012
PL 433	 12 %	 Centrica	 2010
PL 510	 20 %	 Centrica	 DoD
PL 526	 40 %	 North Energy	 DoD
PL 562	 10 %	 EON Ruhrgas	 DoD
PL 587	 40 %	 Edison	 DoD
PL 590	 40 %	 North Energy	 DoD

North Sea

PL 341	 11 %	 Det Norske	 2010
PL 370	 10 %	 Agora Oil and Gas	 2012
PL 370B	 10 %	 Agora Oil and Gas	 2012
PL 498	 25 %	 Lotos	 2012
PL 503	 25 %	 Lotos	 DoD
PL 503 B	 25 %	 Lotos	 DoD

DoD means that the licence will make a decision to drill or surrender 

0

4

8

12

16

20

2009 2010 2011

Barents Sea
8

North Sea
6

Norwegian Sea
7



14  |  North Energy - 2010 Annual Report

Barents Sea 
The company has eight licences in the 
Barents Sea and is one of the companies 
with the most ownership interests in the 
area. The Barents Sea is a priority area for 
North Energy, and the company has had 
a lot of activity here since the beginning. 
It is particularly in the Hammerfest Basin 
that North Energy has strengthened its 
position, especially since the allocations in 
the APA 2010. This is the area we feel that 
our chance of discovering hydrocarbons is 
the greatest.

In the Barents Sea, North Energy has espe-
cially focused on gaining knowledge of the 
generation, migration and preservation of 
hydrocarbons. As a result of this work, we 
feel that there are great opportunities for 
oil discoveries, and this applies in particular 
to the Hammerfest Basin. 

Participating in three wells in the 
Barents Sea
The first well North Energy will participate 
in in the Barents Sea will be Norvarg in 
PL 535, with Total as the operator. North 
Energy believes that there is a good pos-
sibility of finding gas in this structure. The 
reservoir here is primarily composed of 
sandstone from the Triassic age.

The second well North Energy will drill will 
be in Heilo, PL 530, which was assessed as 
one of the best during the 20th licensing 
round. The company hopes to find oil 
in Jurassic sandstone in this prospect. 
GdFSuez will operate this well.

The third well to be drilled in the Barents 
Sea will be the Zapffe licence, PL 518, pos-
sibly the most exciting of all our wells in 
the Barents Sea in 2011. Here the partners 
hope to discover oil in exploration models 
that have been explored to a limited extent 
in the Barents Sea. Reservoirs were created 
while active fault activity took place in the 
upper Jurassic and lower Cretaceous, so-
called syn-rift sediments. 

Overall North Energy will participate in 
three exploration wells in the Barents Sea 
in 2011, and in the event of discoveries in 
the Heilo and Zapffe wells, the company 
will also participate in two sidestep wells. 

This makes us one of the most active drill-
ing partners in the Barents Sea this year.

Norwegian Sea
North Energy has seven licences in the 
Norwegian Sea, two of which have been 
acquired by so-called farm-ins. This applies 
to PL 433, where the Fogelberg discovery 
was made, which is operated by Centrica, 
and PL 385, which is operated by Statoil. 
The company is expecting to drill here late 
in 2011 or early in 2012.

After the APA 2010, North Energy has two 
operatorships in the Norwegian Sea.
The licences that North Energy has in the 
Norwegian Sea are concentrated around 
infrastructure to which any discoveries 
can be connected, and in a northern area 
where the company’s first self-operated 
licence (PL 526) is located. 

In the Norwegian Sea, North Energy is 
primarily exploring traditional Jurassic fault 
traps, and thus there is a relatively high 
likelihood of discoveries in these prospects. 

This applies to the PL 510, PL 385, PL 587 
and PL 590 licences, where North Energy 
is exploring prospects with Jurassic 
sandstone in fault traps created after the 
sandstone was deposited. This exploration 
method has been very successful in the 
area, and discoveries have been made in 
more than half of these types of traps.

North Sea
North Energy has six licences in the North 
Sea. The partners in PL 498 have decided 
to drill the Skagen prospect. The drilling of 
this well is scheduled for 2012, and it will 
test an exciting exploration model in the 
Cretaceous that has been very successful 
in similar settings.

North Energy also has the prospect with 
the most potential in the entire exploration 
portfolio in the North Sea, the Valberget 
prospect. Since the prospect represents 
a new exploration model, the Valberget 
prospect carries a very high risk.

North Energy drilled a dry well in the 
North Sea in 2010, the Stirby prospect. 

The well was primarily to test the upper 
Jurassic sandstone, but the reservoir was 
not present. There were traces of gas in 
the deeper levels of the well, but impervi-
ous rock types mean that it is unlikely to 
produce any hydrocarbons. 

In March 2011, North Energy signed an 
agreement with Wintershall Norge ASA to 
acquire a 10 per cent share in the licences 
PL 370 and PL 370B Kakelborg. At the 
same time, North Energy will take over 
Wintershall’s 20 per cent interest in licence 
PL 385 Jette. The deed is expected to be 
signed by the summer of 2011. This agree-
ment entails that North Energy has an 
additional two wells in its portfolio. PL 370 
will be drilled early i 2012, and it will be 
the seventh well in North Energy’s drilling 
portfolio. North Energy considers the 
Kakelborg prospect to be a very interest-
ing prospect in the northern North Sea.

Drilling operations 2010
North Energy participated in two drill-
ing operations in 2010. Well 6506/9-2 in 
PL 433 Fogelberg was drilled in February–
April with Centrica Norway as the operator. 
This was a well under very high pressure 
and with high temperatures, and it was the 
first well Centrica drilled on the Norwegian 
continental shelf. Gas condensate was 
discovered in the Garn and Ile formations 
in the Early to Middle Jurassic, and several 
core samples were taken of the well. 

Well 24/12-6 S2 in PL 341 Stirby was drilled 
in August-December with Det norske 
Oljeselskap as the operator. This was also 
a well where high pressure and high tem-
peratures were expected in the reservoir. 
The well proved gas in the Hugin/Sleipner 
formation in Middle Jurassic, but further 
data collection could not confirm the 
degree of saturation or productivity, and 
the well was declared dry.

The discovery was classified as a contin-
gent resource in accordance with the SPE 
classification system, and according to the 
Norwegian Petroleum Directorate it will 
be classified 5F – production likely, but not 
clarified. North Energy’s unaudited net con-
tingent resource estimate for Fogleberg is 
6 million barrels of oil equivalents.
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Petroleum activities moving northwards

Norwegian petroleum activities are 
moving increasingly faster towards 
Northern Norway, a trend that is further 
amplified by the clarification of the bound-
ary line with Russia. The Norwegian and 
major international oil companies are 
looking towards the northern regions to 
realise their potential and plans for growth 
on the Norwegian continental shelf. In the 
near future, we will see a shift in the main 
petroleum activities from the south to the 
north. North Energy grew up in the North. 
We will remain in the North, and we will 
create value in the North. 

Creating confidence in the future
By developing the region further, we will 
see business, education, culture and gen-
eral welfare prosper. These are elements 
of a society’s development that provide 
positive synergies and ripple effects.

By providing people who grow up in 
northern Norway with prospects of varied, 
interesting and good workplaces, the oil 
industry will be the greatest contributor 
to creating a stable development, new 
centres of expertise and higher revenues 
for the local communities. 

The region’s future will be created through 
those who are young today. By strength-
ening relevant education trends and 
creating interesting and varied jobs, the 
youngest generations will find it chal-
lenging to establish a career in Northern 
Norway. In this way the region will hold on 
to and attract new talent and expertise. 
It will give the petroleum industry an op-
portunity to build strategic functions, and 
to create regional growth.

Growth in other sectors
The petroleum activities will contribute 
to growth in other sectors as well, since 
the industry is dependent on well-
developed infrastructure and a broad 
range of services for employees and their 
families. Roads, mainland connections, 
and air services are decisive for ensur-
ing efficient transport. The same applies 

to a good and stable supply of power, 
which modern industry is dependent on. 
Overall this will make Northern Norway 
competitive.

With increased competitiveness, the 
municipalities and county authorities’ 
revenues will also increase. This will pro-
vide a higher standard of living through 
better solutions in health and social care 
services, education and culture.

Permanent effects
Northern Norway already has a number 
of strong industry clusters, industrial 
enterprises and educational institutions. 

North Energy spends much of its time 
on identifying and developing poten-
tial opportunities. Northern Norwegian 
companies are in the forefront with regard 
to emergency preparedness technology, 
for example. We believe in utilising the 
local expertise that already exists in the 
Northern Norwegian emergency prepar-
edness model, where the fishing fleet is of 
key and decisive importance.

We know that oil activities in the North 
are dependent on dialogue and broad 
support, and we will do our part in this 
context. In this way we will help realise the 
region’s potential and create wealth.

Photo: Anne Lise Nordheim – Halliburton
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Good HSE performance is a prerequisite 
for creating long-term value. Our goal is 
to prevent accidents and injuries. 

Working environment 
In 2010, North Energy performed health, 
safety and environmental (HSE) activities 
in compliance with its HSE programme 
for the year. This includes, for example, 
ergonomic advice at the offices, first aid 
courses and a comprehensive employee 
survey as tools for mapping and further 
developing the organisation into an even 
more efficient and better workplace. Three 
working environment committee (AMU) 
meetings were held and an employee 
representative has been elected to the 
company’s Board of Directors. 

The total absence due to illness was 0.8 
per cent in 2010. The trend throughout 
2010 showed falling absence due to illness, 
and, compared with 2009, absence due 
illness has been reduced by 50 per cent. 
The company will continue to safeguard 
the health of the staff by providing training 
facilities, physiotherapy, etc. No workplace 
accidents have occurred or been reported 
during the year. 

The company has appointed a working 
environment committee, and a meet-
ing schedule has been established for 
the committee. Collaboration with union 
officials has been constructive and made 

a positive contribution to the company’s 
operations. 

Follow-up of the “supervisory 
obligation” and HSE activities in 
self-operated licences
The company has complied with the 
“supervisory obligation” for the licences 
where drilling has been proposed 
(Fogelberg and Stirby) and actively partici-
pates in other partner licenses, and espe-
cially in licenses where drilling is planned. 

In connection with environmental analyses 
and emergency preparedness assess-
ments related to the operatorship of 
PL 526 Vågar, the company, has, together 
with a team of experts, made two trips 
(Lovund to Steigen) in the summer of 
2010 and documented areas and loca-
tions of natural and cultural significance. In 
addition, North Energy established three 
projects together with Statoil in 2010, one 
of which will analyse the regional busi-
ness effects, population and move-back 
potential, as well as the development of 
the employment market for petroleum 
development in Lofoten, Vesterålen and 
Troms II. This is a continuation of North 
Energy’s project related to technological 
development solutions and opportunities 
for bringing petroleum ashore, as well as 
the environmental and social consequenc-
es of petroleum activities in the same area. 
In the autumn of 2010, the company also 
conducted several meetings (dialogue 

conferences) with fishermen and fishing 
organisations in order to strengthen the 
dialogue and knowledge base between 
these parties. In 2011 North Energy will still 
be available as a dialogue partner for the 
fishing organisations and other business 
interests in questions related to the shared 
use of resources outside Lofoten and 
Vesterålen.

Further development of the 
company’s management system 
– preparation of own operations
As a continuation of work on the man-
agement system in 2009, North Energy 
has developed this as a foundation for its 
own drilling in 2010. In this connection, a 
framework agreement was entered into 
with Oddfjell Well Management AS in the 
autumn of 2010 in order to help North 
Energy build up competence and docu-
mentation for the drilling of wells on the 
Norwegian continental shelf. Completion 
of the formal work on the management 
system and internal procedures is ex-
pected in the second quarter of 2011. The 
project affects all areas of the organisation 
and is quality assured through a sepa-
rate management committee. There is a 
particular focus on including processes 
and guidelines related to risk and opera-
tions management, including the experi-
ence gained as a result of the Macondo 
accident. This will be safeguarded in the 
relevant drilling documentation.

Health, safety and the environment
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An active year for business development

North Energy is actively working on busi-
ness development activities to strengthen 
the exploration portfolio and improve the 
portfolio’s risk profile. In order to achieve 
this, the company’s overall strategy is to 
acquire licences with prospects that are 
situated close to infrastructure and with a 
high likelihood of success.

This is best achieved through known 
models for exploration around infrastruc-
ture where surplus capacity will be avail-
able in a few years. A good example of 
this is the Fogelberg discovery in March 
2010 in PL 433, around 18 km north of the 
Åsgard field. The discovery is assumed to 
be commercial. PL 433 was acquired in 
2009 from Centrica, who is the operator 
of the licence. 

The PL 341 Stirby acquisition was carried 
out in the course of the year. The main 
prospect in this exploration well was not 
found, but there were indications of gas in 
the deeper part of the well, which has not 
been found to be commercially viable. 

North Energy will continue to evaluate 
high quality acquisition opportunities, and 
sell-offs and swaps will also be evaluated 
to balance the risk and financial exposure 
of the portfolio. 

North Energy’s strategy is to realise the 
value of discoveries by participating in 
development and production, or through 
sales, if the value of the discovery can 
be realised at an earlier stage so that the 
resources can be reinvested in explora-
tion or other developments. 

The discovery in PL 433 will be assessed 
continuously on the basis of this strategy. 
A positive development has been ob-
served over the course of the year as the 
project has continued to mature. 

In March 2011, North Energy signed an 
agreement with Wintershall Norge ASA 
to acquire a 10 per cent interest in the 
licences PL 370 and PL 370B Kakelborg. 
At the same time, North Energy will take 
over Wintershall’s 20 per cent interest in 
licence PL 385 Jette.
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A growing organisation

North Energy is growing.  We focus on 
expertise and diversity when building 
up our organisation. Motivated em-
ployees with the right knowledge and 
experience are important prerequisites 
for achieving our goals.

The number of employees at North 
Energy has increased during this period. 
At the beginning of 2010, the company 
had 38 employees, compared with 43 at 
the end of the year. In addition, the com-
pany hired five consultants to strengthen 
the exploration activities. Female repre-
sentation in the company is 30 per cent. 
A total of 67 per cent of the employees 
work in exploration and operational activi-
ties, while the remaining 33 per cent work 
in support functions.

North Energy has a multicultural work-
ing environment, and 10 nationalities are 
represented within the company.

Throughout 2010, the company has 
focused on building up the organisation in 
order to strengthen the exploration activi-
ties and operational aspects with a view 
to active operatorship. Further develop-
ment is anticipated, primarily in the first 
half of 2011. 

The company has a high level of sat-
isfaction, which is confirmed by the 
working environment survey that was 
conducted in 2010. A new survey will 
be conducted in 2011. Absence due to 
illness was at an acceptable level in 2010, 
and it was at a modest 0.8 per cent. 
Continuous measures are considered 
and carried out to follow up and improve 
the employees’ physical working environ-
ment, and adaptation of the individual 
employee’s workplace has been priori-
tised. Encouragement of physical activity 
through measures where the company 

supports training activities has also been 
well received by the employees.

The balance between work and leisure is 
seen as very important. The company en-
dorses, therefore, flexible working hours.

Expertise
Cooperation has been established with 
the University of Tromsø with a view to 
strengthening the geological and geo-
physical expertise in Northern Norway. 
On the basis of this cooperation, a new 
office has been established in Tromsø that 
is staffed by experienced geophysicists 
in order to draw on cooperation with the 
university. The recruitment of master’s 
students and project cooperation will con-
tribute to strengthening both parties.

Photo: Thomas Bjørnflaten
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The Management of North Energy ASA

Name: Erik Karlstrøm
Title: Managing Director

Erik Karlstrøm is the manag-
ing director and was the 
first employee of the com-
pany. Karlstrøm came from 
the German RWE Group, 
where he worked for 20 
years; during the last period 
he was vice-president of 
RWE Egypt, with respon-
sibility for exploration. As 
exploration manager in 
Egypt, Karlstrøm was di-
rectly involved in a number of discoveries of gas in the Nile 
Delta. Previously Karlstrøm worked for six years at Mobil in 
the USA and Stavanger. Karlstrøm has also been the head 
of the exploration committee of the Norwegian Oil Industry 
Association (OLF). Karlstrøm graduated as an engineer in 
geophysics at the Norwegian Institute of Technology (NTH) 
in Trondheim, and is originally from Talvik in Alta.

Name: Siw Sandvik
Title: Communications 
Manager

Siw Sandvik has been 
manager of communica-
tions at North Energy since 
October 2010. She has long 
and extensive experience in 
her field. Sandvik worked in 
communications at Widerøe 
for 20 years and has also 
worked for SAS for five 
years in customer relations. 
Her strength is communica-
tions and information work in large organisations. She has 
experience in building relationships with the media and has 
currently a good network within the media in Norway. Siw 
Sandvik graduated in information and public relations from 
the BI Business School.

Name: Knut Sæberg
Title: CFO

Knut Sæberg was ap-
pointed CFO in March 2009 
and is responsible for the 
company’s financial func-
tions. Prior to this, Sæberg 
was CFO in the Optimera 
Group, where his areas of 
focus were restructuring 
and acquisitions and dispos-
als of businesses. Sæberg 
was previously CFO of NMD 
ASA and was a key figure 
in the restructuring of the company in the wake of the de
regulation of the pharmaceutical market. From 1984 to 1995 
he held various positions in Shell, and was directly involved 
in the establishment of the business organisation connected 
to the Troll project. Sæberg graduated in economics and 
business administration from Kristiansand in 1984.

Name: Lars Tveter
Title: HSE Manager

Lars Tveter is the man-
ager for health, safety and 
environment (HSE), and has 
been at North Energy since 
its inception. Prior to this, 
he was manager of Aibel’s 
operations in Libya. Tveter 
began his career as a proc-
ess engineer at Kværner 
Engineering. From 1980 
to 1990 he held various 
positions in R&D, petroleum 
technology, operations and HSE at Total. He has been staff 
manager of Dolphin Drilling and HSE manager of Hitec 
Dreco. Between 1994 and 2008, Tveter was responsible for 
international business development in Aibel. He has worked 
abroad for several periods in Argentina, France, Egypt and 
Libya. Tveter graduated as an engineer from the Norwegian 
Institute of Technology (NTH) in Trondheim, and has an MA 
in international management from BI Business School in 
Oslo.
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Name: Astrid Tugwell
Title: Development 
Manager

Astrid M Tugwell joined the 
company as development 
manager in February 2008. 
Tugwell has a solid back-
ground in reservoir devel-
opment and has also held 
positions in finance, plan-
ning, licence management 
and project management. 
She started her career in 
the Norwegian Petroleum 
Directorate before joining Shell International and later 
Norske Shell. During this time she took part in a number 
of European and Norwegian projects, from drilling to the 
development of mature fields, including participation in the 
development of the Ormen Lange gas field. Her last position 
at Shell was development manager of the Draugen field in 
Haltenbanken. Tugwell comes from Øksfjord in Loppa and 
graduated as a petroleum engineer from Strathclyde Univer-
sity in Glasgow.

Name: Marion Høgmo
Title: Administration 
Manager

Marion Høgmo has been 
administration manager 
since April 2008, with 
particular responsibility 
for HR and administrative 
processes. Her specialities 
are organisation, finance, 
development and manage-
ment. From 2000 to 2008 
she was a bank manager 
at Sparebank 1 Nord-Norge 
and Nordea. Høgmo has studied economics, management 
and education at Finnmark University College, law at the 
University of Oslo and administration and management at 
Buskerud University College.

Name: Vigdis Wiik 
Jacobsen
Title: Portfolio Manager

Vigdis Wiik Jacobsen is the 
portfolio manager of North 
Energy. She has worked in 
exploration in Norway and 
internationally for over 30 
years. From 2001, Jacobsen 
participated in the creation 
of Gaz de France Norge, 
and was responsible for 
exploration activity on the 
Norwegian continental 
shelf. From 1983 to 2001 she worked primarily in exploration 
in Statoil, first as exploration manager for the Norwegian 
continental shelf and later as vice-president for exploration 
in the Caspian Sea. Jacobsen has also headed the explora-
tion committee of the Norwegian Oil Industry Association 
(OLF). Jacobsen began her career in the Norwegian Petro-
leum Directorate and has an MA in geology from the Univer-
sity of Oslo. 

Name: Erik Henriksen
Title: Exploration Manager

Erik Henriksen was appointed 
exploration manager on May 1, 
2011. His previous position was 
with Statoil as project manager 
and exploration manager for 
the northern areas. He also has 
strong ties to the University of 
Tromsø, where he is an adjunct 
professor, teaching petroleum geology. Erik Henriksen is 
originally from Narvik, has a degree in geology, and worked 
for 20 years at Statoil and two years at the Norwegian Pe-
troleum Directorate. He has experience from the entire Nor-
wegian continental shelf, from Sentralgraben in the south 
to the Barents Sea in the north. For the last ten years, Erik 
Henriksen has been working internationally as exploration 
manager for Eurasia with particular focus on Russia, Kazakh
stan and Azerbaijan. Most recently he has been project 
manager for exploration projects in the northern areas. He 
played a key role in the «Barents Sea Project», in which the 
government in 1997 awarded important seismic contracts to 
oil companies to increase interest in the area. As the sector 
manager for the Barents Sea, he also has experience from 
the so-called «drilling campaign» in the Barents Sea.
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Communication
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Knut Sæberg

CFO

Business Development
Tore Guldbrandsøy

Business Development Mgr.
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Lars Tveter
HSE Mgr.

Management, organisation chart

Name:  
Tore Henrik Guldbrandsøy
Title: Business Development 
Manager

Tore Henrik Guldbrandsøy is the 
business development manager 
of North Energy. He has worked 
in the oil industry for 22 years, 
and has extensive international 
experience from BP, Statoil and 4sea energy from various 
countries: Norway, the UK and Vietnam. He has held techni-
cal and commercial positions and has worked both onshore 
and offshore in leading positions. He was previously busi-
ness development manager of 4sea energy and business 
development project manager at Statoil. Guldbrandsøy 
obtained an MSc in petroleum engineering from the Nor-
wegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) in 
Trondheim in 1988.
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Investor information

North Energy’s goal is to ensure a good 
return for its shareholders over time. 
Emphasis is placed on openness and 
accessibility in its dialogue with the 
investor market.

Owners
North Energy was listed on Oslo Axess in 
February 2010. After the listing the owner-
ship interests in the company were distrib-
uted by geographic region as follows:

	 1.	Northern Norway 	 45	per cent
	2.	United Kingdom 	 25	per cent
	3.	Southern Norway 	 20	per cent
	4.	Other Europe 	 10	per cent

Shareholder composition
As at 31 December 2010 the company 
had 1,019 individual shareholders. The 
twenty largest shareholders represented 
63 per cent of the share capital. Around 
45 per cent of the capital is owned by 
investors affiliated with Northern Norway, 
while 35 per cent is owned by foreign 
investors and 20 per cent by investors af-
filiated with Southern Norway. Employees 
and board members owned a total of 9.1 
per cent of the shares. North Energy’s 
goal is to work actively to maintain a high 
level of North-Norwegian ownership.

Shareholder	 Number of shares	  %

	 1	 UBS AG, London Branch	 2 446 500	 9.7
	 2	 SKS Eiendom AS	 1 824 920	 7.3
	 3	 JPB AS	 1 350 000	 5.4
	 4	 Origo Kapital AS	 1 248 100	 5.0
	 5	 Onshore Group Nordland AS	 933 340	 3.7

	 6	 IHM Holding AS	 739 929	 2.9
	 7	 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken	 645 300	 2.6
	 8	 Kapnord Fond AS	 640 000	 2.5
	 9	 Alta Kraftlag AL	 600 230	 2.4
	 10	 The Northern Trust Co.	 564 900	 2.2

	 11	 IKM Industri-invest AS	 545 648	 2.2
	 12	 State Street Bank & Trust Co.	 536 008	 2.1
	 13	 Morgan Stanley & Co. Internat. PLC	 531 227	 2.1
	 14	 Ninerik AS	 516 735	 2.1
	 15	 Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV	 500 000	 2.0

	 16	 Caceis Bank	 484 670	 1.9
	 17	 The Northern Trust Co.	 442 204	 1.8
	 18	 DnB NOR SMB	 435 000	 1.7
	 19	 Leonhard Nilsen & Sønner AS	 431 210	 1.7
	 20	 First Securities AS	 425 000	 1.7

	1–20	 Total	 15 840 921	 63.0

North Energy’s 20 largest shareholders
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Share on Oslo Axess
North Energy ASA (ticker code “NORTH”) 
shares were registered on Oslo Axess on 
5 February 2010 after a successful capital 
increase. The shares were listed at an 
opening price of NOK 26.50 per share, 
which corresponds to a market value of 
NOK 667 million. The price fell by 14 per 

cent during the year, to a closing price 
on 31 December of NOK 22.80 per share. 
In comparison the benchmark index, the 
Oslo Børs Energy Index, increased by 8 
per cent during the same period. The 
company’s market capitalisation at the 
end of the year was NOK 573.4 million, di-
vided into 25,149,736 outstanding shares.

The share’s performance has varied 
throughout the year with regard to the 
return, number of trades and volume.

The company has only one class of share 
with each share giving one vote at the 
company’s General Meeting.

North Energy has not paid any dividend 
to shareholders previously and is not 
expecting to pay any dividend in the 
near future, however, the company has a 
goal of ensuring a good return over time 
by creating value and making the value 
potential more visible and thus contribut-
ing to a positive price performance for the 
share.

A number of analysts follow the com-
pany’s shares on a continuous basis, and 
a summary with contact details can be 
found at 
www.northenergy.no/investor

Analyst coverage
	 • First Securities

	 • Argo Securities

	 • RS Platou Markets

	 • Pareto

	 • SEB 
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Directors’ report 2010

Business activities
North Energy ASA was established on 
4 September 2007. The object of the 
company is to become a leading oil and 
gas industry player in Northern Norway 
through exploration and production 
based in the Norwegian Sea and Barents 
Sea. 

North Energy’s head office is located in 
Alta, and it has a branch office in Oslo. 
Smaller offices with regional expertise 
have also been established in Stavanger, 
Bergen, Bodø, Tromsø and Honningsvåg. 

Important events
North Energy was listed on Oslo Axess 
on 5 February 2010. Prior to the stock ex-
change listing, the company raised NOK 
350 million in the form of new equity after 
a share capital increase was adopted at 
the Extraordinary General Meeting of 21 
January. This was to fully finance a drilling 
programme consisting of eight wells.

In addition, North Energy acquired all 
the shares in the company 4sea energy 
AS, which had ownership interests in 
two exploration licences in the North 
Sea, in February 2010. This company 
also supplied capital of NOK 50 million 
and contributed two experts that were 
well-adapted to the expertise required 
by North Energy. Shares in North Energy 
ASA with a total value of NOK 50 million 
were issued as consideration for the 
shares in 4sea energy AS,

North Energy started drilling at PL 433 
Fogelberg as a partner with a 12 per 
cent ownership interest in the licence in 
February 2010. At the end of March 2010 
the discovery of hydrocarbons in the 
licence was announced. Extensive analy-
sis and tests were performed through-
out 2010, and we are working now on 
a more formal start-up of the Plan for 
Development and Operation (PDO) proc-
ess after the need for possible appraisal 
wells is clarified. Our goal is to make a 

conclusion in the middle of 2011 whether 
work on a PDO can continue without drill-
ing additional wells. 

In October 2010, North Energy acquired 11 
per cent of PL 341 Stirby in the North Sea. 
The drilling had already started then, and 
in November hydrocarbons were proven 
in the deeper portion of the well. This 
deposit was declared sub-commercial in 
December, due primarily to tight forma-
tions. Assessments are being made now 
of the shallower main reservoir, which was 
not hit by the well, as well as other pos-
sible prospects in the licence.  

PL 433 Fogelberg and PL 341 Stirby are li-
cences where North Energy has acquired 
interests from other companies.
 
North Energy was allocated five new 
licences through the APA 2010. Two of 
these are in the Barents Sea, two in the 
Norwegian Sea and one in the North Sea. 
Of the two in the Norwegian Sea, North 
Energy was allocated one operatorship. 
The licence allocations represented a jack-
pot with respect to the company’s applica-
tion, and the Board of Directors perceived 
the good allocations to be recognition 
of the expertise the company has built 
up around the core areas in the North. 
In addition, the allocations also value the 
company’s competence as an operator. 

In March 2011, North Energy acquired a 
10 per cent interest in PL 370 Kakelborg 
and increased its interest in PL 385 Jette 
from 15 per cent to 35 per cent. With 
this transaction, North Energy has built 
up a portfolio of 21 licences, 8 of which 
are in the Barents Sea, 7 of which are in 
the Norwegian Sea, and 6 of which are 
located in the North Sea. 
 
Beyond management of the allocated 
licences and adaptation of the exploration 
portfolio, the main focus in 2010 has been 
on surveying the exploration areas in con-
nection with the APA 2010, as well as the 
21st licensing round.  

North Energy is embarking on a year with 
a significant increase in the exploration 
activities. Through the capital increase 
that took place in February in combina-
tion with an exploration loan, the original 
exploration programme has been fully 
financed. In order to adapt the exploration 
loan facility to the drilling programme for 
2011 and 2012, the company organised a 
competitive tendering process in 2010, in 
which Norwegian and foreign banks were 
invited to tender. There was a great deal 
of interest in the competitive tendering, 
and DnB NOR and SEB Enskilda formed 
a syndicate to back the exploration loan 
facility of NOK 760 million, which was for-
malised in December. DnB NOR leads the 
syndicate. BNP Paribas has subsequently 
become a member of this syndicate of 
banks.

Since the establishment of the company, 
North Energy has sought to contribute to 
increasing the creation of value regionally 
and good industrial solutions. Throughout 
2010 and 2011 North Energy has focused 
on these efforts in relation to the fish-
ing interests in Lofoten and Vesterålen 
in order to contribute expertise with 
respect to obtaining new knowledge and 
establishing a growing understanding of 
the shared responsibility for stewardship 
that lies with all the members of the busi-
ness community in this vulnerable area. 
In addition, the company has contributed 
to documenting the correlation between 
more oil and gas activities in the North 
and Norway’s future as an energy nation.

It is a great challenge to work with the 
distribution of factual information with 
respect to an issue where the national 
and local media focus on feelings and 
contradictions. In this minefield, many 
external entities create a profile through 
continuous attempts to polarise any 
issues that exist between the petroleum 
industry in Lofoten and Vesterålen (LoVe) 
without placing the region in a compre-
hensive national context.
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The bridge-building role that is part of 
North Energy’s core values has come to 
the forefront throughout 2010 by virtue of 
the dialogue the company has had with 
the local fishermen. The so-called “Øksnes 
Requirements”, which have attracted local 
and national attention, are a direct result 
of this work. In this document, the focus 
is not only on what the energy industry 
can contribute locally and regionally, but 
also what challenges and risks must be 
minimised before any activity can be 
established. In addition, measures are 
being discussed for how other businesses 
in the region can be strengthened. The 
objective of this activity is to create a basis 
for broad support in Northern Norway for 
more oil and gas activities.  

Continuation as a going concern
In accordance with Section 3-3a of the 
Norwegian Accounting Act, it is confirmed 
that the prerequisites for continued opera-
tions have been met. This assumption is 
based on the company’s financial situa-
tion, forecasted results for the year 2011 
and the company’s long-term strategic 
forecast for the coming years. 

Future developments
The Board of Directors has a positive view 
of the basic outlook for the upstream 
market in the oil and gas industry. 

Since the company was established in 
2007, North Energy’s main goals have 
been related to building up a strong 
organisation, allocation and acquisition of 
good licences, completion of an explora-
tion programme and the subsequent 
investment in development and produc-
tion. North Energy’s goal is to contribute 
to the local creation of value as the oil 
activities gradually move northwards. This 
can best be achieved by the company 
having operatorships in licences that are 
in an active phase with regard to drill-
ing, development and production. North 
Energy has, therefore, started to build 
up the necessary expertise and systems 
related to such a role throughout 2010.  

North Energy increased its capital base 
in February 2010 by NOK 400 million. 

Together with the exploration loan facility 
that was negotiated with DnB NOR, 
SEB Enskilda and BNP Paribas, the original 
drilling programme for eight wells has 
been fully financed. In this programme, 
two wells have been completed and six 
wells consequently remain. Of the remain-
ing six wells, three will be drilled in 2011 
and three will be drilled in 2012.    

The drilling programme will start with 
PL 535 Norvarg in the second quarter of 
2011 and continue with PL 530 Heilo and 
PL 518 Ypsilon. All of these wells will be 
drilled in the Barents Sea, where North 
Energy has emerged as a substantial 
player. The drilling programme for 2012 
consists of PL 385 Jette in the Norwegian 
Sea and PL 498 Skagen and PL 370 
Kakelborg in the North Sea. 

North Energy intends to participate active-
ly in future licensing rounds. Based on our 
good exploration expertise and strong 
financing, we have high ambitions for 
good allocations. The Board of Directors 
is concerned about the continuation of 
efforts to strengthen and optimise the 
portfolio, and the company will, therefore, 
still assess opportunities for the acquisi-
tion and sale of licences. 

North Energy is actively seeking a sustain-
able opening of the promising exploration 
area outside Lofoten and Vesterålen. The 
company has participated in studies that 
can contribute to the opening of vulner-
able coastal areas with new technol-
ogy without any conflicts with the local 
interests.

Since the company was established, 
North Energy’s ambition has been to play 
a role in the development of the northern 
regions. As a result of the consensus that 
has been reached between Norway and 
Russia concerning the disputed area in 
the Barents Sea, this development may 
come earlier than first assumed. North 
Energy will, therefore, continue to build up 
its competence and position itself in this 
area.

Forward-looking statements in this por-
tion and the rest of the Board of Directors’ 
report reflect the current view of future 

circumstances, and are, of course, associ-
ated with significant risk and uncertainty, 
because they concern and are depend-
ent on events or circumstances that take 
place in the future.

Comments on the annual financial 
statements 
The company does not have any 
revenues. The loss before tax was 
NOK 279.8 million in 2010, compared with 
a loss of NOK 208.4 million in 2009. The 
earnings performance reflects a devel-
opment phase in which the number of 
licences has increased from eight in 2009 
to fourteen at the end of 2010. The licence 
and exploration costs account for most 
of the financial results. These costs have 
increased from NOK 113.1 million in 2009 
to NOK 177.1 million in 2010. The personnel 
costs were NOK 61.5 million in 2010, com-
pared with NOK 62.4 million in 2009.

The loss after tax was NOK 62.6 million 
in 2010, compared with a loss of 
NOK 64.4 million in the previous year.

Of the balance sheet total of 
NOK 635.2 million, equity accounts for 
NOK 480.5 million. This gives a year-
end equity ratio of 75.6 per cent. The 
company strengthened its equity by 
NOK 350 million through a public offering 
that was completed in February 2010. In 
addition, North Energy has strengthened 
its capital base through the acquisition of 
4sea energy AS in February 2010.   

Of the balance sheet assets, the tax claim 
from the refund scheme is valued at NOK 
342.6 million. This is an increase from 
NOK 149.0 million in 2009. In addition, 
the company’s cash and cash equiva-
lents increased from NOK 45.7 million in 
2009 to NOK 49.4 million in 2010. North 
Energy participated in the drilling in 
PL 433 Fogelberg in the first half of 2010. 
A discovery was ascertained, and the drill-
ing costs were capitalised in the amount 
of NOK 110 million. The company did not 
have any interest-bearing loans at the 
end of the year. North Energy negotiated 
a new and expanded exploration loan 
facility in the autumn of 2010. The loan 
facility limit is NOK 760 million kroner, and 
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DnB NOR, Svenska Enskilda Banken and 
BNP Paribas are behind it, with DnB NOR 
leading the syndicate of banks.

The cash flow from the operating activi-
ties in 2010 has been NOK –32.1 million, 
compared with NOK –80.8 million in the 
previous year. The investment activities 
have entailed a negative cash flow of 
NOK 214.0 million, which is an increase 
of NOK 199.2 million over 2009. The net 
cash flow from financing activities in 2010 
totalled NOK 286.5 million, compared with 
NOK 128.0 million in 2009.

The Board of Directors considers the 
company’s financial position to be 
satisfactory. 

Risk assessments
Overall objectives and strategy
The company is exposed to financial risk 
in various areas. The foreign exchange 
risk is, however, low, since borrowing and 
contracts denominated in foreign curren-
cies is limited. Increased exposure in these 
areas is, however, planned in the coming 
years. The aim is to reduce the financial 
risk to the greatest possible extent. The 
company’s current strategy does not 
entail the use of financial instruments, but 
this is subject to continuous evaluation by 
the Board of Directors.  

Foreign exchange and market risk
North Energy does not participate in fields 
in production and is thus not exposed to 
major oil price fluctuations. The company 
has not entered into futures contracts 
or other agreements in order to reduce 
the company’s foreign exchange risk and 
thereby the operational market risk. 

Interest rate risk
The company is exposed to fluctua-
tions in interest rates, since most of the 
company’s debt has adjustable interest 
rates. In addition, changes in the interest 
rate can affect investment opportunities 
in future periods.

Credit risk
The risk of bad debts is considered low, 
as in this phase the company’s receiva-
bles are primarily from the Norwegian 

government in connection with the tax 
value of exploration costs. 

Operational risk
North Energy is a company in which the 
operational risk is closely associated with 
the company’s expertise. The company 
focuses, therefore, on competence devel-
opment, organisational development and 
management systems. In addition, as an 
exploration company, North Energy will 
be dependent on political willingness to 
exploit resources in interesting areas. 

HSE
Total absence due to illness for 2010 
was 0.8 per cent. This entails a 50 per 
cent reduction in absence due to illness 
compared with 2009. The company will 
continue to safeguard the health of the 
staff by providing training facilities, physi-
otherapy, etc. We focus in particular on 
working postures and the prevention of 
typical strain injuries in an environment 
distinguished by monitors and long work 
days in a sitting position. No workplace 
accidents have occurred or been reported 
during the year. Striking a good balance 
between work and leisure is considered 
important. The company endorses, there-
fore, flexible working hours. The company 
has appointed a working environment 
committee and established a meeting 
schedule. Collaboration with union of-
ficials has been constructive and made 
a positive contribution to the company’s 
operations.  

The Board of Directors considers the work-
ing environment to be satisfactory, which 
is also confirmed by employee surveys.  

North Energy’s activities in 2010 pollute 
the external environment only to a limited 
extent. The biggest factor is air travel, 
and in this connection the company uses 
modern voice and conferencing to a great 
extent between the offices to limit travel. 
The operations do not use environmen-
tally harmful chemicals or generate dust 
or noise.

The company’s offices are in a new build-
ing at Kunnskapsparken in Alta, which is 
equipped with an energy-saving time-

controlled ventilation system. The heating 
system has time-controlled night time 
temperature reduction and lighting. All 
waste is sorted.
 
Throughout 2010 the company has par-
ticipated as a partner in connection with 
exploration drilling in PL 433 Fogelberg, 
which ended in April, and PL 341 Stirby, 
which ended in December. The op-
erations were completed without any 
reported personnel injuries or pollution of 
the external environment. North Energy 
has in this connection discharged its 
supervisory obligation in accordance with 
the regulatory requirements.

Personnel resources and equal 
opportunities
North Energy had 43 employees at the 
end of the year. This represents growth 
of five persons compared with 2009. In 
addition to the employees, five consult-
ants have been hired to reinforce the 
company’s exploration activities. 

North Energy has a multicultural work-
ing environment, and 10 nationalities are 
represented within the company. When 
new employees are recruited, North 
Energy will continue to facilitate diversity 
with respect to, but not limited to, gender, 
cultural background and experience. 
Remuneration is determined based on 
the content of the work duties and the 
employees’ qualifications. The manage-
ment team’s remuneration is described in 
notes to the financial statements.

North Energy aims to be an employer 
where there are equal opportunities for 
women and men. The company has a 
policy of no discrimination due to gender. 

The company’s workforce consists of 30 
per cent women. The management team 
consists of eight persons, three of whom 
are women, while the Board of Directors 
consists of eight shareholder-elected 
representatives and one employee-
elected representative. In addition, the 
Board of Directors has one observer from 
the company’s employees. Three of the 
shareholder-elected board members are 
women. 
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The company will continue to focus on 
equal opportunities between men and 
women and would like to maintain a 
high percentage of women in executive 
positions. 

Ownership
North Energy’s capital base and owner-
ship was expanded significantly through 
the new issue completed in February 
2010 and the acquisition of 4sea energy. 
As a result of this, North Energy has had 
around 1000 shareholders throughout 
2010. Most of the company’s shareholders 

are still in Northern Norway, but there are 
also significant ownership environments 
in London, Oslo, Stavanger and Helsinki. 

Corporate governance
Corporate governance is the Board of 
Directors’ most important tool for ensur-
ing that the company’s resources are 
managed in the best possible manner 
and contribute to the long-term creation 
of value for the shareholders. An exten-
sive process was carried out prior to the 
company’s listing on Oslo Axess to ensure 
that the company was in full compliance 

with the Norwegian Code of Practice for 
Corporate Governance. The Board of 
Directors makes reference in this context 
to the special statement on the compa-
ny’s corporate governance in the Annual 
Report for 2010.

Allocation of profit/loss for the year 
The company does not have any distrib-
utable reserves at year end. The Board of 
Directors proposes that the loss for the 
year of NOK 62.6 million be transferred to 
uncovered losses.

Alta, 12 April 2011

Johan Petter Barlindhaug	 Leif W. Finsveen	 Kristin Ingebrigtsen
Chairman	 Board member	 Board member

Arnulf Østensen	 Jørn Olsen	 Guri H. Ingebrigtsen
Board member	 Board member	 Board member

Heidi Petersen	 Hans Kristian Rød	 Ole Njærheim
Board member	 Board member	 Board member

Erik Karlstrøm
CEO
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Corporate governance

An appropriate and clear distribu-
tion of roles between the Board of 
Directors, management and sharehold-
er community contributes to building 
trust between the various stakeholder 
groups.

As a company listed on Oslo Axess, North 
Energy is required to prepare an annual 
statement on how the company has 
organised itself pursuant to the current 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance. The statement below follows 
the structure of the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance, and 
any non-conformity with this code will be 
explained under each section. 
 

1. Statement on corporate governance
North Energy practises corporate govern-
ance in compliance with Norwegian 
company law and the Norwegian Code 
of Practice for Corporate Governance, last 
revised on 21 October 2010.

North Energy’s decisions and actions shall 
be based on the company’s core values:

•	 To be at the forefront
•	 To be competent
•	 To be a bridge-builder
•	 To be a fearless voice in the North

It is the task of the management to 
ensure that the areas of responsibility are 
given priority, individually and combined, 
based on North Energy’s core values and 
in compliance with the Norwegian Code 
of Practice for Corporate Governance. The 
company has prepared ethical guidelines 
and guidelines for corporate social re-
sponsibility. These guidelines are available 
on the company’s website.

2. Business activities
North Energy shall manage operations 
involving the exploration, development 
and production of oil and gas on the 
Norwegian continental shelf and the 
Russian side of the Barents Sea, and own 

or participate in companies that manage 
equivalent operations, including through 
subsidiaries. The company’s vision is to 
develop a leading and profitable oil and 
gas company that actively contributes 
to the development of industrial assets 
in the North. This is to be achieved by 
means of the following main strategies:

•	 Acquisition and allocation of the best 
licences in the Norwegian Sea and the 
Barents Sea.

•	 Ensuring an adequate capital base to 
finance the company through explora-
tion, development and production.

•	 Ensuring access to good investment 
opportunities by being an attractive 
partner for the authorities and leading 
oil companies.

•	 Being a credible and confidence-inspir-
ing partner for important stakeholders, 
such as suppliers, the fishing industry 
and environmental groups. 

•	 Establishment of a foundation for long-
term value creation and ripple effects in 
the North.

North Energy has a clear framework 
for its business activities in its Articles 
of Association, while visions, goals and 
strategies are embedded in the com-
pany’s management system. This has 
been specified in greater detail through 
work in advance of the company’s stock 
exchange listing, which took place in 
February 2010. In addition, the manage-
ment has worked actively throughout the 
year to prepare the company for operator 
tasks on the Norwegian continental shelf. 
This has resulted, for example, in more de-
tailed specifications in the management 
manual for North Energy. 

3. Share capital and dividends
Since its establishment in 2007, North 
Energy has been purely an exploration 
company without any revenues. The 
company’s activities are financed through 
equity. North Energy has not paid any 
dividend and is not expected to pay any 
dividend for the next few years.

4. Equal treatment of shareholders and 
transactions with close associates
If North Energy is party to a transaction 
with a party closely related to the com-
pany or with companies in which board 
members or senior executives or their 
relatives have a direct or indirect signifi-
cant interest, the parties involved must 
immediately report this to the Board of 
Directors. Any such transaction must be 
approved by the Chief Executive Officer 
and the Board of Directors and, when 
required, it must also be reported to the 
market. North Energy has not invested in 
any treasury shares in 2010.

5. Free negotiability
Shares in North Energy are listed on Oslo 
Axess. All shares are freely negotiable. 
There are no restrictions stipulated in the 
Articles of Association concerning the 
negotiability of the shares.

6. General Meeting
The company’s General Meetings in 2010 
were held in compliance with Norway’s 
Limited Companies Act. The General 
Meeting resolved in December 2009 to 
convert the company to a public limited 
company (ASA). After that time, Norway’s 
Public Limited Companies Act formed the 
basis for conducting General Meetings.

The General Meeting is North Energy’s 
highest decision-making body. The Board 
of Directors endeavours to ensure that 
the General Meeting is an effective forum 
for communication between the Board of 
Directors and the company’s sharehold-
ers. Arrangements are therefore made on 
the part of the Board of Directors for the 
best possible participation of the compa-
ny’s shareholders at the General Meetings. 
Meeting notices and agenda papers are 
made available on the company’s website 
no later than 21 days before the General 
Meeting. In addition, provisions will be 
made for voting in advance at the com-
pany’s General Meeting.
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The Board of Directors sets the agenda 
for the General Meeting. However, the 
most important items on the agenda are 
listed in the Public Limited Companies Act 
and the company’s Articles of Association.

7. Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee’s duties 
are to submit a reasoned recommenda-
tion to the General Meeting concern-
ing the election of shareholder-elected 
members to the Board of Directors and 
to nominate a chairman and deputy 
chairman. The Nomination Committee 
shall also submit a proposal for direc-
tors’ fees and nominate members to the 
Nomination Committee. Establishment of 
a Nomination Committee is stipulated in 
the Articles of Association and regulated 
by instructions from the General Meeting.

Remuneration of the Nomination 
Committee is a fixed sum that is not 
based on performance. The General 
Meeting is the decision-making body for 
all recommendations submitted by the 
Nomination Committee. 

8. Corporate Assembly and Board 
of Directors, composition and 
independence
North Energy has chosen not to have a 
Corporate Assembly.

The organisational structure of the Board 
of Directors is in compliance with the 
Public Limited Companies Act and is 
composed of three women and five men, 
all of whom have broad experience. Four 
of these directors have been elected 
independently of the company’s share-
holders. In addition, one board member 
and one observer have been elected from 
among the company’s employees. None 
of these members are part of the com-
pany’s management. The board members 
represent both industry-specific expertise 
and professional expertise from national 
and international companies. 

According to North Energy’s understand-
ing, all board members are independent 
of the company’s management and 
essential business associates. At present, 
three of the board members own shares 
in North Energy directly or indirectly. 

None of the board members possess op-
tions to buy more shares.

9. Work of the Board of Directors
The work of the Board of Directors is 
governed by the rules of procedure 
for the Board of Directors. In principle, 
this work consists of supervising North 
Energy, including establishment of the 
company’s strategy and overall objec-
tives, adopting action programmes and 
ensuring a prudent organisation of the 
business activities in accordance with 
the company’s Articles of Association. 
The Board of Directors can also establish 
guidelines for the business activities and 
issue instructions on individual matters. 
The Board of Directors shall safeguard 
North Energy’s interests as a whole and 
not act as individual shareholders.

There is a clear division of responsibil-
ity between the Board of Directors and 
the day-to-day management. The Chief 
Executive Officer is responsible for the 
operational management of the company 
and reports regularly to the Board of 
Directors. 

The management is responsible for the 
preparation of items for inclusion on the 
agenda for board meetings. It was re-
solved in 2010 that the duties of the Audit 
Committee would be performed directly 
by the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors evaluates its work, 
competence and performance on an 
annual basis.

A total of 13 board meetings were held in 
2010 and attendance at these meetings 
varied between 75 and 100 per cent. 

10. Risk management and internal 
controls
North Energy’s business activities are 
subject to a management system that 
encompasses all areas within which the 
company operates. The management 
system is divided into three levels. Level 
1 describes the company’s visions, goals, 
strategies and organisation. Level 2 
describes business processes, while level 
3 describes the necessary work instruc-
tions and other specified supporting 

documentation. Throughout 2010 North 
Energy has focused in particular on 
updating the management system and 
governing documentation.

The company’s management team 
monitors, on a daily basis, situations 
in which the company has a financial 
risk and reports on this to the Board of 
Directors. Exceptions are systematically 
monitored and corrective measures are 
implemented.

The company’s reports to the Board of 
Directors stress both the ongoing risk 
associated with the day-to-day operations 
and risk associated with the investment 
opportunities that are presented. In addi-
tion to the management’s assessments 
of the risk areas to which the company 
is exposed, the auditor’s assessments are 
also presented to the Board of Directors.

11. Remuneration of the Board of 
Directors
The Nomination Committee submits 
a proposal for the remuneration of the 
board members to the General Meeting. 
This proposal takes into consideration the 
responsibilities, qualifications, consump-
tion of time and complexity. None of 
the board members have duties in the 
company apart from that which is evident 
from this report. 

12. Remuneration of senior executives
The Board of Directors stipulates the 
Chief Executive Officer’s salary, taking into 
consideration the responsibilities, qualifi-
cations, complexity and results achieved. 
The Board of Directors also establishes 
the principles for the remuneration of 
the company’s other senior executives, 
and these principles are reported to the 
General Meeting. All employees have the 
same performance-based bonus scheme. 
Further information is provided in the 
notes to the annual financial statements.

13. Information and communication
North Energy keeps shareholders and 
investors informed of the company’s com-
mercial and financial status on a regular 
basis. The requirements pertaining to 
such information have increased because 
of the company’s stock exchange listing 
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and expansion of the body of sharehold-
ers. The Board of Directors is concerned 
about ensuring that the players on the 
stock market receive the same informa-
tion at the same time, and all financial and 
commercial information will therefore be 
made available on the company’s website. 
Stock exchange notices will be distributed 
via Hugin at www.newsweb.no.

North Energy’s annual financial state-
ments will be made available on the com-
pany’s website at least three weeks prior 
to the General Meeting. Quarterly reports 
will be published no later than 2 months 
after the end of the quarter. Quarterly 
presentations will be broadcast directly on 
the Internet. North Energy publishes an 
annual financial calendar that is available 
on the Oslo Børs website. 

The Board of Directors stresses the impor-
tance of openness and equal treatment 
in relation to all the players in the market 
and strives always to provide as true and 
fair picture of the company’s financial 
position as possible.

14. Company takeover
North Energy’s Articles of Association do 
not contain any limitations or defence 
mechanisms as regards acquisition of the 
company’s shares. In accordance with its 
general responsibility for the supervision 
of North Energy, the Board of Directors 
will act in the best interests of all of the 
company’s shareholders in a situation of 
this type.

15. Auditor
The annual financial statements are 
audited. The Board of Directors receives 
and reviews reports from the auditor after 
the financial statements for the year in 
question have been audited. The auditor 
submits an annual plan for the auditing 
work and participates in board meetings 
in which the review of accounts requires 
the presence of the auditor. At at least 
one of these meetings, the auditor will 
report to the Board of Directors without 
the presence of the management. The 
auditor submits a declaration of his 
independence and objectivity. The Board 
of Directors reviews this to ensure that 
the auditor satisfies the requirements for 
a satisfactory and independent control 
function. The Board of Directors sub-
mits the auditor’s report to the General 
Meeting, which also approves the audi-
tor’s fees.

Alta, 12 April 2011

Johan Petter Barlindhaug	 Leif Finsveen 	 Kristin Ingebrigtsen 
Styreleder	 Styremedlem	 Styremedlem

Arnulf Østensen	 Ole Njærheim	 Hans Kristian Rød 
Styremedlem	 Styremedlem	 Styremedlem

Heidi Petersen	 Guri Ingebrigtsen	 Jørn Olsen
Styremedlem	 Styremedlem	 Styremedlem

Erik Karlstrøm
Administrerende direktør
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Annual financial statements and notes  
North Energy Group

CONSOLIDATED 
INCOME 
STATEMENT

(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 2010	 2009

Payroll and related cost	 5	 -62 149	 -62 370
Depreciation and amortisation	 17	 -4 593	 -3 414
Exploration expenses	 18	 -179 049	 -113 098
Other operating expenses	 6	 -43 445	 -28 752

Operating profit 		  -289 236	 -207 633
			 
Finance income	 19	 9 464	 4 300
Finance costs	 19	 -4 740	 -5 113

Net financial items		  4 724	 -813
			 

Profit before income tax		  -284 512	 -208 446
			 
Income tax credit 	 16	 221 596	 144 029
			 

Profit for the year		  -62 916	 -64 417
			 
			 
Earnings per share (NOK per share) 			 
 - Basic	 14	 -2.67	 -8.07
 - Diluted	 14	 -2.67	 -8.07

(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 2010	 2009

Profit for the year		  -62 916	 -64 417
			 
Other comprehensive income,  
net of tax:			 
Actuarial gains/-losses pension	 22	 -932	 166

Total other comprehensive income,  
net of tax		  -932	 166
			 

Total comprehensive income for the year		  -63 848	 -64 250 

CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 
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(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 31-12-10	 31-12-09

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 17	 16 167	 13 387
Capitalised exploration and license costs	 18	 128 214	 9 382
Other receivables 	 7	 17 528	 9 782

Total non-current assets		  161 909	 32 551
			 
Current assets			 
Prepayments and other receivables	 8	 37 926	 15 118
Tax receivable refund tax value  
  exploration expenses 	 16	 347 532	 148 960
Financial assets 	 9	 4 674	 0
Cash and cash equivalents	 9	 86 015	 45 671

Total current assets		  476 147	 209 748

			 

Total assets		  638 056	 242 299 

CONSOLIDATED 
BALANCE SHEET
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(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 31-12-10	 31-12-09

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital	 10	 25 150	 9 201
Share premium		  606 141	 233 573
Other paid-in capital		  29 570	 26 999
Retained earnings		  -180 685	 -116 837

Total equity		  480 176	 152 935
			 
Liabilities			 
Non-current liabilities			 
Pension liabilities	 22	 15 346	 6 110
Deferred tax	 16	 45 791	 0

Total non-current liabilities		  61 137	 6 110
			 
Current liabilities			 
Current borrowings	 12	 0	 45 000
Trade creditors		  47 185	 16 949
Other current liabilities	 13	 49 559	 21 305

Total current liabilities		  96 743	 83 254
			 

Total liabilities		  157 880	 89 364

			 

Total equity and liabilities		  638 056	 242 299

Alta, 12 april 2011

Johan Petter Barlindhaug	 Kristin Ingebrigtsen 	 Ole Njærheim
Chairman	 Board member	 Board member

Guri Helene Ingebrigtsen	 Leif W. Finsveen 	 Arnulf Østensen
Board member	 Board member	 Board member

Hans Kristian Rød	 Heidi Marie Petersen	 Jørn Olsen
Board member	 Board member	 Board member

Erik Karlstrøm
CEO
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
				    Other
		  Share 	 Share 	 paid-in	 Retained	 Total 
(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 capital	 premium	 capital	 earnings	 equity

Equity at 1st of January 2009		  5 811	 147 639	 8 080	 -52 588	 108 943

Transactions with owners:
Share issues		  3 390	 94 319	 0	 0	 97 709
Share issue expenses		  0	 -5 442	 0	 0	 -5 442
Underwriters warrants		  0	 -2 944	 2 944	 0	 0
Share-based payment, warrants 	 11	 0	 0	 13 308	 0	 13 308
Share-based payment, bonus shares	 5	 0	 0	 2 667	 0	 2 667

Comprehensive income:						    
Total compehensive income for 2009		  0	 0	 0	 -64 250	 -64 250

Equity at 31st of December 2009		  9 201	 233 573	 26 999	 -116 837	 152 935
						    
Equity at 1st of January 2010		  9 201	 233 573	 26 999	 -116 837	 152 935

Transactions with owners:						    
Share issues		  15 949	 390 664	 0	 0	 406 612
Share issue expenses (net after tax)		  0	 -18 095	 0	 0	 -18 095
Share-based payment, bonus shares	 5	 0	 0	 2 571	 0	 2 571

Comprehensive income:						    
Total compehensive income for 2010		  0	 0	 0	 -63 848	 -63 848

Equity at 31st of December 2010		  25 150	 606 141	 29 570	 -180 685	 480 176



North Energy - 2010 Annual Report  |  35

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
(NOK 1 000)		  Note	 2010	 2009

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before income tax			   -284 512	 -208 446
Adjustments:				  
  Tax refunded		  16	 160 727	 98 221
  Deprecitiation		  17	 4 593	 3 414
  Impairment capitalised exploration expenses 		  18	 52 016	 0
  Pensions 			   2 778	 1 262
  Expensed share-based payment recognised in equity			   2 571	 15 975
  Changes in trade creditors			   30 235	 11 237
  Changes in other accruals			   -508	 -2 491

Net cash flow from operating activities			   -32 099	 -80 827
				  
Cash flow from investing activities				  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		  17	 -7 076	 -1 204
Purchase of intangible assets		  16, 18	 -232 372	 -11 529
Aquisition of subsidiary, net cash inflow 			   30 931	 0
Changes in other non-current receivables 		  7	 -5 520	 -2 079

Net cash flow from investing activities			   -214 038	 -14 811
				  
Cash flow from financing activities				  
Borrowings/repayments of current borrowings		  12	 -45 000	 35 711
Proceeds from share issues			   331 481	 92 267

Net cash flow from financing activities			   286 481	 127 978
				  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents			   40 344	 32 340
				  
Cash and cash equivivalents at 1st of January 		  9	 45 671	 13 331
				  

Cash and cash equivivalents at 31st of December		  9	 86 015	 45 671
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Notes

Note 1 General information

The consolidated financial statements of North Energy were ap-
proved by the board of directors and CEO at 12 April 2011.

North Energy ASA is a public limited company incorporated and 
domiciled in Norway, with its main office in Alta. The company’s 
shares were listed on Oslo Axess 5 February 2010. 

The Group’s only business segment is exploration for oil and gas 
on the Norwegian continental shelf.

Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these financial statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis for preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as adopted by the European Union (EU) and in accordance with 
the additional requirements following the Norwegian Accounting 
Act. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost 
basis. 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group, but cur-
rently without any impact on the financial statements
•	 IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised) and consequential 

amendments to IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial 
statements (revised), IAS 28 Investments in associates, and IAS 
31 Interests in joint Ventures

•	 IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners 
•	 IFRIC 18 Transfers of assets from customers 
•	 IFRIC 9 Reassessment of embedded derivates and IAS 39 

Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement 
•	 IFRIC 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation 
•	 IAS 38 Intangible Assets (amendment)
•	 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (amendment)
•	 IAS 36 Impairment (amendment)
•	 IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (amendment): Group Cash-settled 

Share-based Payment 

•	 IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued opera-
tions (amendment)

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing stand-
ards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by 
the Group
•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (new) 
•	 IAS 24 Related party disclosures (revised) 
•	 IAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation (amendment): 

Classification of rights issues
•	 IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial liabilties with equity instruments 
•	 IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement 

(amendment)
•	 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (amendment)
•	 Improvements to IFRSs
These standards and interpretations are not expected to have any 
material impact on the financial statements. 

2.3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of North Energy ASA and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries 
are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies (control), generally accompanying 
a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The ex-
istence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exer-
cisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the 
Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group, and 
they are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains and 
losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
Group.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisi-
tion method of accounting. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets trans-
ferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by 
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value 
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. The 
excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as 
goodwill. Each acquisition is considered individual to determine 
whether the acquisition should be deemed as a business combi-
nation or as an asset acquisition. When acquisitions are deemed 
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as asset acquisitions no deferred tax on initial differences between 
carrying values and tax bases are recorded, nor any goodwill is 
recorded at the date of acquisition.

2.4 Foreign currency
Functional currency and presentation currency
The Group’s presentation currency is Norwegian kroner (NOK). 
This is also the Parent company’s and the subsidiary’s functional 
currency. 

Transactions in foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions are translated into NOK using the 
exchange rates at the transaction date. Monetary balances in 
foreign currencies are translated into NOK at the exchange rates 
on the date of the balance sheet. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. 

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment charges. 
Depreciated are calculated on a straight line basis over the assets 
expected useful life and adjusted for any impairment charges. 
Expected useful lives of long-lived assets are annually and where 
they differ significantly from previous estimates, depreciation pe-
riods are changed accordingly. Ordinary repairs and maintenance 
costs are charges to the income statement during the financial 
period in which they are incurred. The costs of major renovations 
are included in the asset’s carrying amount when it is probable 
that the company will derive future economic benefits in excess 
of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing 
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by compar-
ing the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
included in operating profit. Major assets with different expected 
useful lives are reported as separate components. Each compo-
nent is depreciated on a straight line basis over its expected useful 
life.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for potential impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less 
costs required to sell the asset and its value in use. The value in 
use is determined by reference to discounted future net cash 
flows expected to be generated by the asset. The difference 
between the assets carrying amount and its recoverable amount 
is recognised in the in income statement as impairment. Property, 
plant and equipment that suffered an impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.6 Intangible assets
Exploration costs for oil and gas properties
The Group uses the successful efforts method to account for ex-
ploration costs. All exploration costs, with the exception of acquisi-
tion costs of licenses and drilling costs of exploration wells, are 

expensed as incurred. Costs related to drilling of exploration wells 
are temporarily capitalised pending the evaluation of the potential 
existence of oil and gas reserves. If reserves are not found, or if 
discoveries are assessed not to be commercially recoverable, the 
drilling costs of exploration wells are expensed. Costs of acquiring 
licenses are capitalised as intangible assets.

Capitalised costs of acquiring licenses and capitalised costs of 
drilling exploration wells are reviewed for potential impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The re
coverable amount is the higher if the asset’s fair value less costs 
required to sell the asset and its value in use. The value in use is 
determined by reference to discounted future net cash flows ex-
pected to be generated by the asset. The difference between the 
assets carrying amount and its recoverable amount is recognised 
in the in income statement as impairment.

2.7 Farm in and Farm out in the exploration phase
Agreements in connection with acquisitions/sale of interests in 
licences in the exploration phase (Farm in/Farm out agreements), 
often involve a situation where the owner of a working interest 
(the farmor) transfers a portion of its working interest to another 
party (the farmee) in return for the farmee’s  performance of some 
agreed upon action. For example, the farmee may agree to cover/
carry drilling expenses for the farmor limited up to a fixed amount. 
In return, the farmor agrees to transfer a portion of the work-
ing interest in the property to the farmee. This well carry/carried 
interest is by the farmee accounted for as the costs occurs and is 
classified in accordance with the policy for treatment of the explo-
ration expenses (for North Energy successful efforts method). The 
farmor does not record any profit or loss but accounts for the well 
carry as an expense reduction when it occurs.  

A farm in/farm out agreement is recognised when risks and 
rewards of ownership are transferred, which usually take place 
when necessary public approvals are given. 

2.8 Interests in Joint Ventures
The Group’s investments in joint ventures, including jointly 
controlled operations (oil and gas licenses), are accounted for by 
recognising the company’s share of the joint ventures’ individual 
income, expenses, assets, liabilities and cash flows. Each item is 
classified and presented in its respective line-items in the financial 
statements.

2.9 Leases (as lessee)
Financial leases
Leases where the Group assumes most of the risk and rewards of 
ownership, are classified as financial leases. The Group does not 
have any such leases.

Operating leases
Leases in which most of the risks and rewards of ownership are 
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments 
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made under operating leases are charged to the income state-
ment on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.10 Receivables 
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any transac-
tion costs. The receivables are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Impairment losses 
are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition and this loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows that can be reliably estimated. The 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the car-
rying amount and the present value of estimated future cash. The 
asset’s carrying amount is reduced and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, 
the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impair-
ment was recognised, the reversal of the previously recognised 
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and the equivalents include cash on hand, deposits with 
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less.

2.12 Borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the 
fair value of the consideration received net of transaction/issue 
costs associated with the borrowing. After initial recognition, inter-
ests-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference 
between the consideration received net of transaction/issue costs 
associated with the borrowing and the redemption value, is recog-
nised in the income statement over the term of the loan.

2.13 Taxes
Income taxes for the period comprises tax payable, refundable 
tax from refund tax value of exploration expenses  and changes in 
deferred tax. 

Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the basis of 
existing temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the financial statement and their tax bases, 
together with tax losses carried forward at the balance sheet date. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated based on the tax 
rates and tax legislation that are expected to exist when the assets 
are realised or the liabilities are settled, based on the tax rates and 
tax legislation that have been enacted or substantially enacted on 
the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised only 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the assets can be utilised. The carrying 

amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet 
date and reduced to the extent that is no longer probable that 
the deferred tax asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not discounted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on the same taxable entity.

2.14 Pension plans
Pension plans are financed through payments to insurance com-
panies, and are determined based on periodic actuary estimates. 
The Group has a defined benefit plan. This is a pension plan which 
defines the pension payment that the employee will receive when 
retiring. The pension payment is generally influenced by one or 
several factors, such as age, years of service and salary. 

The recognised liability is the present value of the defined 
benefits on the balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan 
assets, adjusted for unrecognised variances in estimates and any 
unrecognised costs linked to previous periods pension earnings. 
The pension liability is estimated yearly by an independent actu-
ary, based on a linear method. The present value of the defined 
benefits is  determined by discounting the estimated future pay-
ments by the interest of an obligation issued by a company with 
high credit-rating in the same currency as in the benefit will be 
paid, and within the terms approximately equal to the terms of the 
related pension liability.

Variances in estimates due to new information or changes in actu-
ary assumptions are recognised directly in the equity through the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise. 

Changes in the benefits of the pension plan are recognised im-
mediately in the income statement, 
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the 
vesting period). In this case, the costs of changed benefits are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

2.15 Share-based payment
The Group has share-based payment consisting of bonus shares 
as part of the Group’s general bonus programme for employees. 
The Group also had share-based payment consisting of warrants 
granted to CEO and other employees of the management. All 
programs are equity-settled. 

Fair value of the bonus shares are charged to expenses. The 
Group recognises a corresponding increase in equity, classified as 
other paid-in capital. 

Fair value of the warrants was estimated on the grant date 
and charged to expenses over the vesting period. The Group 
recognised a corresponding increase in equity, classified as other 
paid-in capital. 
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2.16 Provisions
A provision is recognised when the company has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is prob-
able (i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably 
estimated. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are 
measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be 
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the provision due 
to passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

The Group recognises a provision and an expense for severance 
payment when there exists an legal obligation to pay severance 
payment.  

The Group recognises a provision and an expense for bonuses to 
employees, when the company is contractually obliged or where 
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 
The part of the bonus which is equity-settled (the bonus shares) is 
charged to expenses with a corresponding increase in equity.

2.17 Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial state-
ments. Significant contingent liabilities are disclosed, with the 
exception of contingent liabilities where the probability of the 
liability occurring is remote.

2.18 Earnings per Share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the 
profit attributable to ordinary shares using the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year after 
deduction of the average number of treasury shares held over the 
period.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is consistent with 
the calculation of the basic earnings per share, but gives at the 
same time effect to all dilutive potential ordinary shares that were 
outstanding during the period, by adjusting the profit/loss and the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding for the effects of 
all dilutive potential shares, i.e.: 
• The profit/loss for the period attributable to ordinary shares is 

adjusted for changes in profit/loss that would result form the 
conversion of the dilutive potential ordinary shares.

• The weighted average number of ordinary shares is increased 
by the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares 
that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of 
all dilutive potential ordinary. 

2.19 Segment reporting
The Group’s only business segment is exploration for oil and gas 
on the Norwegian continental shelf 

2.20 Cost of equity transactions
Transaction costs directly linked to an equity transaction are 
recognised directly in equity, net after deducting tax. 

2.21 Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared by using the indirect method. 

2.22 Events after the balance sheet date
The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events after the 
balance sheet date that provide evidence of conditions that 
existed at the balance sheet date (adjusting events). The financial 
statements are not adjusted to reflect events after the balance 
sheet date that are indicative of conditions that arose after the bal-
ance sheet date(non-adjusting events). Non-adjusting events are 
disclosed if significant.

Note 3 Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risks
Exploration for oil and gas involves a high degree of risk, and 
the Group is subject to the general risk factors pertaining to this 
business, such as (i) volatility of oil and gas prices, (ii) uncertainty 
pertaining to estimated oil and gas reserves, (iii) operational risk 
related to oil and gas exploration and (iv) volatility in exchange 
rates. Furthermore, only few prospects that are explored are ulti-
mately developed into production. 

Furthermore, the Group is exposed to certain types of financial 
risks. Management involves receivables, loans, accounts payable 
and drawing rights to financial institutions. The business activi-
ties of the Group involve exposure to credit risk, interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk and currency risk.

(a) Credit risk
The Group is mainly exposed to credit risk related to bank depos-
its, investment in money market fund, receivables Joint Ventures 
and loans to employees. The exposure to credit risk is monitored 
on an ongoing basis. As all counterparties have high credit rating, 
there are no expectations that any of the counterparties will not 
be able to fulfil their liabilities. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset 
in the balance sheet. 

(b) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is related to usage of 
credit facility, with floating interest rate conditions. The Group is 
therefore exposed to interest rate risk as part of its normal busi-
ness activities and the aim is to keep this risk at an acceptable 
level. 

The Group has a revolving credit facility which entitles the Group 
a loan up to MNOK 300. Interest rate is NIBOR+1,1%. The loan is 
secured by a pledge in tax receivables from refund according to 
the Norwegian Petroleum Tax Act and the interests in production 
licences which the company at any time has. The Group has no 
other interest-bearing borrowings.
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Sensitivity analysis:
Interest rate sensitivity is calculated based on exposure to interest 
bearing debt on the balance sheet date. 
2010: The Group is not exposed to interest bearing debt at 
31.12.2010.
2009: If NIBOR would have been 50 basis points higher/lower, the 
Group’s profit after tax would have been TNOK 162 lower/higher. 

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to pay financial liabilities as 
they fall due. The Group’s financial liabilities are short term and fall 
due within 0 - 6 months.

(d) Currency risk
The Parent company’s and the subsidiary’s functional currency is 
NOK. The Group is exposed to currency risk related to its activities 
because the value of potential discoveries is correlated with USD 
and parts of the Group’s expenses are USD based. The Group has 
not entered into any agreements to reduce its exposure to foreign 
currencies. A weak Norwegian krone will increase the expenses, as 
to the contrary with a strong Norwegian krone.

3.2 Capital management
The Group’s aim for management of capital structure is to secure 
the business in order to yield profit to shareholders and contribu-
tions to other interest groups. In addition, a capital structure at its 
optimum will reduce the costs of capital. To maintain or change 
the capital structure in the future, the Group can pay dividends to 
its shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets/licences to reduce 
debt. The Group may buy its own shares. The point of time for this 
is dependent of changes in market prices.

The Group monitors it’s capital structur using a equity ratio, which 
is total equity divided by total assets. As at 31 December 2010 the 
equity ratio was 75,3% (63,1% as at 31 December 2009).

Note 4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS, requires management to make judgements, use estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are considered to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and underly-
ing assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Estimates and assumptions which represent a considerable risk 
for material changes in carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
during the next fiscal year, are presented below.

a) Tax receivable from refund tax value exploration expenses
The Norwegian taxation authorities may have a different under-
standing than the company regarding the definition of indirectly 
exploration expenses according to the Norwegian Petroleum Tax 
Act. See note 16.

b) Deferred tax/tax assets 
Most critical estimates influencing carrying amount is related to 
valuations/judgement of utilization of deferred tax assets. See note 
16.

c) Pensions
The present value of pension liabilities depends on several dif-
ferent factors determined by different actuary assumptions. The 
assumptions used to estimate net pension costs/revenue include 
the discount rate. Changes in this assumption will influence the 
carrying amount of the pension liabilities.

The Group determines a suitable discount rate by the year end. 
This is the rate to be used when calculating the present value 
of future estimated outgoing cash flows needed to settle the 
pension liabilities. When determining a suitable discount rate the 
Group considers the interest rate of registered bonds of high qual-
ity issued in the same currency as the pension payment, and with 
the approximately same due date as the related pension liability. 

Other pension assumptions are partly based on market terms. 
Additional information is presented in note 22.

4.2 Critical judgements in applying the company’s accounting 
policies
Management has made judgements also in the process of apply-
ing the Group’s accounting policies. Such judgements with the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are presented in the following: 

a) Accounting policy for exploration expenses
The Group uses the successful efforts method to account for 
exploration costs. All exploration costs, with the exception of 
acquisition costs of licenses and drilling costs of exploration wells, 
are expensed as incurred. 
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Note 5 Payroll and related cost, remuneration to board of directors and management

Amounts in NOK 1 000			   2010	 2009

Salaries			   42 738	 36 561
Share-based payment, bonus shares			   2 571	 2 667
Share-based payment, warrants 			   0	 4 934
Payroll tax			   2 848	 2 325
Pension costs (see note 22) 			   9 693	 9 503
Other benefits			   4 298	 6 380

Total			   62 149	 62 370
					   
Average number of employees			   42,7	 37,0

Remuneration to board of directors and management in 2010:					   

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 Director’s fees	 Salaries 	 Bonus	 Pension	 Other *

Management					   
Erik Karlstrøm (CEO) 		  3 130	 644	 3 067	 1 562
Knut Sæberg (CFO)		  1 996	 263	 212	 19
Svein Johansen (Exploration Manager)		  1 590	 179	 542	 25
Astrid M. Tugwell (Development Manager)		  1 315	 169	 137	 19
Lars Tveter (Manager HSE)		  1 168	 200	 360	 94
Vigdis Wiik Jakobsen (Portfolio Manager)		  1 526	 97	 186	 19
Marion Høgmo (Administration Manager)		  874	 160	 79	 21
Tore Henrik Guldbrandsøy (Manager Business Development)		  1 216	 435	 220	 15
Siw Sandvik (Communication Manager) **		  292	 0	 41	 5

Board of directors					   
Johan P. Barlindhaug (Chairman)	 420				  
Kristin Ingebrigtsen (Board member)	 180				  
Ole Njærheim (Board member)	 0				  
Guri Helene Ingebrigtsen (Board member)	 180				  
Leif W. Finsveen (Board member)	 180				  
Arnulf Østensen (Board member)	 180				  
Hans Kristian Rød (Board member)	 156				  
Heidi Marie Petersen (Board member)	 0				  
Jørn Olsen (Board member)	 0				  
Harriet Hagan (former Board member)	 168				  
Eirik F. Hansen (former Board member)	 180				  

Total	 1 644	 13 107	 2 148	 4 845	 1 776

  (*)	Other include benefit from free car, loan interest rate benefit, allowances to cover telephone and internet, training fee, group life 
insurance and travel insurance. In addition, for Erik Karlstrøm other include benefit from acquisition of shares at discounted price in 
connection with exercise of warrants. 

(**)	Employed from 01.10.2010

Remuneration to CEO:
The company’s CEO has an agreement with an annual salary of 
NOK 2,56 million. Other benefits include free car, loan interest 
rate benefit, and regular allowances to cover telephone, internet, 
training fee, pension, group life insurance and travel insurance. 
In addition, he is included in the company’s general employee 
bonus program as determined by the board of directors. The 
bonus is limited to 1/3 of fixed salary, with distribution 50/50 on 

cash and bonus shares, where the cash bonus is earned first. In 
case of resignation at the request of the board of directors, CEO 
has a right to a severance payment equivalent with 2 years gross 
fixed salary. If CEO resigns, there is no severance payment. CEO 
has further an early retirement pension scheme from the age of 
62 until the ordinary retirement age (67 years), where the pen-
sion is 67% of final salary paid. See note 11 for information about 
CEO’s former subscription rights. 
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Bonus program:
The management is included in the company’s general em-
ployee bonus program as determined by the board of directors. 
The bonus is limited to 1/3 of fixed salary, with distribution 50/50 
on cash and bonus shares, where the cash bonus is earned first. 
The bonus is linked to the achievement of specified parameters 
for each of the executive management’s area of responsibility. 
Both financial and non-financial parameters are used. 

Severance payment:
CEO and CFO have agreements covering severance payment. In 
case of resignation at the request of the board of directors, they 
have the right to a severance payment equivalent with 2 years 
gross fixed salary. 

Warrants:
See note 11 for information about former warrants for CEO and 
other employees of the management. 

Information about loan to employees 2010:

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  loan at 31.12.10	 Maturity	 Interest rate

Loan to Erik Karlstrøm		  1 546	 10 years	 2 %
Loan to other employees		  9 964	 20 years	 2 % *

Total		  11 510		

(*) NOK 0,45 million of the loans to other employees has interest rate of 6 %, while remaining loans have interest rate of 2 %. 

The loans are provided for the purpose of house purchasing and private estates are pledged as security. If termination of employment, 
the employees have to settle the remaining outstanding loan amount.

Remuneration to board of directors and management in 2009:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 Director’s fees	 Salaries *	 Bonus	 Pension	 Other **

Management
Erik Karlstrøm (CEO) 		  3 671	 408	 3 078	 791
Astrid M. Tugwell (Development Manager)		  1 280	 183	 192	 332
Svein Johansen (Exploration Manager Norwegian Sea)		  1 593	 250	 583	 256
Lars Tveter (Manager HSE)		  1 241	 163	 410	 325
Torleiv Agdestein (Chief Geologist)		  1 362	 93	 218	 346
Knut Aaneland (Manager of Technology & Business dev.)		  1 295	 133	 358	 255
Vigdis Wiik Jakobsen (Exploration Manager Barents Sea)		  1 471	 131	 289	 883
Marion Høgmo (Administration Manager)		  845	 98	 104	 19
Knut Sæberg (CFO)		  1 583	 0	 304	 15
					   
Board of directors					   
Johan P. Barlindhaug (Chairman)	 220				  
Leif W. Finsveen (Board member)	 110				  
Harriet Hagan (Board member)	 110				  
Eirik F. Hansen (Board member)	 110				  
Kristin Ingebrigtsen (Board member)	 110				  
Hans Kristian Rød (Board member)	 110				  
Arnulf Østensen (Board member)	 0				  
Guri Helene Ingebrigtsen (Board member)	 0				  
Anna M. Aursund (former Board member)	 110				  

Total	 880	 14 341	 1 459	 5 536	 3 223

  (*)	 Erik Karlstrøm has an agreement with an annual salary of NOK 2,45 million. In 2009 it has been paid salary to Erik Karlstrøm for 2007 
and 2008 in connection with a salary increase in 2009 with effect from 1 November 2007.

(**)	Other include benefit from free car, loan interest rate benefit, benefit from free housing, allowances to cover telephone and internet, 
group life insurance, travel insurance and benefit from acquisition of shares at discounted price in connection with exercise of 
warrants. 



North Energy - 2010 Annual Report  |  43

Information about loan to employees 2009:

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  loan at 31.12.09	 Maturity	 Interest rate

Loan to Erik Karlstrøm		  1 735	 10 years	 2 %
Loan to Torleiv Agdestein		  1 892	 20 years	 2 %
Loan to other employees		  2 363	 20 years	 2 % *

Total		  5 989		

(*) NOK 0,45 million of the loans to other employees have interest rate of 6 %, while remaining loans have interest rate of 2 %.

The loans are provided for the purpose of house purchasing and private estates are pledged as security. If termination of employment, 
the employees have to settle the remaining outstanding loan amount.

The board of director’s declaration regarding determination of 
salary and other remuneration to management employees 
The board of directors shall prepare a declaration in accordance 
with the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act (All-
mennaksjeloven) §6-16a. In accordance with the Norwegian Ac-
counting Act §7-31b the content of this declaration is presented.  

The main principle for the company is that the renumeration to 
management is competitive in a way that the company is able 
to attract and retain competent management employees. The 
remuneration shall be competitive and based on individual crite-
rias such as experience, area of responsibility and achievement 
of results. The remuneration system for management employ-
ees shall further stimulate a strong and lasting profit oriented 
organisation which contributes to increasing the shareholder 
value.

Total remuneration to management employees include:  
(1)	 Market based fixed salary.
(2)	 Bonus. The management is included in the company’s gene

ral employee bonus program. The bonus is limited to 1/3 
of fixed salary, with distribution 50/50 on cash and bonus 
shares, where the cash bonus is earned first. The bonus is 
linked to the achievement of specified parameters for each 
of the executive management’s area of responsibility. Both 
financial and non-financial parameters are used. 

(3)	 Pension and insurance. The management is included in the 
company’s general pension and insurance scheme. CEO has 
in addition an early retirement pension scheme from the age 
of 62 until the ordinary retirem ent age (67 years), where the 
pension is 67% of last annual salary.   

(4)	 Severance payment. CEO and CFO have agreements cove-
ring severance payment. In case of resignation at the request 
of the board of directors, they have the right to a severance 
payment equivalent with 2 years gross fixed salary. 

(5)	 Warrants granted. 
(6)	 Other benefits such as free car, loan interest rate benefit, and 

regular allowances to cover telephone, internet, training fee 
and travel insurance. 

Note 6 Other operating expenses and remuneration to 
auditor

Other operating expenses include:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Travelling expenses	 6 300	 5 084
Lease expenses (see note 21)	 6 445	 4 382
Consultant’s and other fees	 8 898	 4 451
Advertising costs	 3 967	 3 578
Other administrative expenses	 17 836	 11 257

Total	 43 445	 28 752

Remuneration to auditor is allocated as specified below:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Audit	 461	 75
Tax assistance	 0	 49
Attestations	 102	 91
Legal assistance	 0	 71
Accounting assistance	 24	 778
Due diligence, prospectus	 215	 1 167

Total, excl. VAT	 803	 2 230

Note 7 Other non-current receivables

Other non-current receivables include:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Loan to employees (note 5 and 15)	 11 510	 5 989
Deposit	 424	 421
Pension assets (note 22)	 5 594	 3 372

Total	 17 528	 9 782
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Note 8 Prepayments and other receivables

Prepayments and other receivables include:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Prepaid expenses 	 3 137	 2 960
VAT receivable	 4 372	 4 138
Receivables, Joint Ventures	 30 417	 8 013
Other items	 0	 7

Total	 37 926	 15 118

Note 9 Cash and cash equivalents and financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Bank deposits	 86 015	 45 671

Total cash and cash equivalents	 86 015	 45 671

Of this:
   Restricted cash for witheld  
     taxes from employees salaries 	 3 012	 3 250
   Restricted cash on escrow account	 0	 10 000

(*) Amount paid to an escrow account in 2009 in connection 
with acquisition of interest in license PL433. The amount has 
been released after the first drilling completed in 2010.

Financial assets: 

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Investment in money market fund	 4 674	 0
Total financial assets 	 4 674	 0

Note 10 Share capital and shareholder information

		  2010	 2009

Number of outstanding shares 
  at 1 January		 9 200 970	 581 122
New shares issued during the year: 
     Issued in exchange for cash		 14 061 974	 338 975
     Issued as consideration at 
       acquisition of 4sea energy AS		  1 886 792	 0

Total number of outstanding shares 
  before share split 1:10 		 25 149 736	 920 097
Share split 1:10 in December 2009		  0	 9 200 970

Number of outstanding shares 
  at 31 December		 25 149 736	 9 200 970

Nominal value NOK per share 
  at 31 December		  1	 1
Share capital NOK at 31 December		 25 149 736	 9 200 970

North Energy has one class of shares with equal rights for all 
shares. No dividends have been proposed or paid in 2009 or 
2010. Refer to note 11 for number of outstanding warrants. 

Main shareholders as of 31 December 2010:

Shareholder	 Number of shares	 % Share

UBS AG, London Branch 		 2 446 500	 9.73 %
SKS Eiendom AS 		  1 824 920	 7.26 %
JPB AS 		 1 350 000	 5.37 %
Origo Kapital AS 		  1 248 100	 4.96 %
Onshore Group Nordland AS 		  933 340	 3.71 %
IHM Holding AS 		  739 929	 2.94 %
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 		  645 300	 2.57 %
Kapnord Fond AS 		  640 000	 2.54 %
Alta Kraftlag AL 		  600 230	 2.39 %
The Northern Trust Co. 		  564 900	 2.25 %
IKM Industri-Invest AS 		  545 648	 2.17 %
State Street Bank & Trust Co. 		  536 008	 2.13 %
Morgan Stanley & Co. Internat. Plc 		  531 227	 2.11 %
Ninerik AS 		  516 735	 2.05 %
Bank Of New York Mellon SA/NV 		  500 000	 1.99 %
Caceis Bank 		  484 670	 1.93 %
The Northern Trust Co. 		  442 204	 1.76 %
DnB NOR SMB 		  435 000	 1.73 %
Leonhard Nilsen & Sønner AS 		  431 210	 1.71 %
First Securities AS 		  425 000	 1.69 %

Total 20 largest shareholders		 15 840 921	 62.99 %

Other shareholders		  9 308 815	 37.01 %

Total 		 25 149 736	 100.00 %

Number of shares owned by management and Board of 
directors at 31 December 2010:�

Management
Erik Karlstrøm (CEO), 
  directly and through Ninerik AS  		  629 543	 2.50 %
Knut Sæberg (CFO)		  16 500	 0.07 %
Svein Johansen (Exploration Manager)		  38 210	 0.15 %
Astrid M. Tugwell (Development 
  Manager)		  36 012	 0.14 %
Lars Tveter (Manager HSE)		  37 615	 0.15 %
Vigdis Wiik Jakobsen 
  (Portfolio Manager)		  41 000	 0.16 %
Marion Høgmo (Administration 
  Manager)		  5 039	 0.02 %

Board of directors
Johan P. Barlindhaug (Chairman), 
  through JPB AS		 1 350 000	 5.37 %
Arnulf Østensen (Board member)		  10 000	 0.04 %
Jørn Olsen (Board member)		  2 886	 0.01 %

Total		  2 166 805	 8.62 %



North Energy - 2010 Annual Report  |  45

Main shareholders as of 31 December 2009:

Shareholder	 Number of shares	 % Share

1 JPB AS		  1 336 610	 14.53 %
2 Origo Kapital AS		  1 248 100	 13.56 %
3 SKS Eiendom AS		  1 138 210	 12.37 %
4 Onshore Group Nordland		  813 334	 8.84 %
5 Kapnord Fond AS		  640 000	 6.96 %
6 Alta Kraftlag AL		  600 230	 6.52 %
7 Perpetuum Invest AS		  478 670	 5.20 %
8 Nilsen & Sønner AS		  431 210	 4.69 %
9 Helgeland Vekst AS		  315 000	 3.42 %
10 Petroinvest Nord AS  
      C/O Helgeland Vekst		  296 800	 3.23 %
11 Oljeinvest AS		  200 000	 2.17 %
12 Sør-Varanger Invest		  180 160	 1.96 %
13 Helgelandsbase AS		  133 330	 1.45 %
14 Nord Troms Kraftlag		  122 920	 1.34 %
15 Elektro A/S		  120 006	 1.30 %
16 Karlstrøm Erik		  97 400	 1.06 %
17 Harald Nilsen AS ENT		  93 360	 1.01 %
18 Repvåg Kraftlag		  91 430	 0.99 %
19 Nordkyn Kraftlag AL		  81 000	 0.88 %
20 Strøm Invest AS		  80 000	 0.87 %

Total 20 largest shareholders		  8 497 770 	 92.36 %

Other shareholders		  703 200	 7.64 %

Total 		  9 200 970 	 100.00 %

Number of shares owned by management and Board of 
directors at 31 December 2009:�

Management
Erik Karlstrøm (CEO) 		  97 400	 1.06 %
Torleiv Agdestein (Chief Geologist)		  32 250	 0.35 %
Svein Johansen (Exploration Manager 
  Norwegian Sea)		  32 350	 0.35 %
Astrid M. Tugwell (Development 
  Manager)		  32 350	 0.35 %
Lars Tveter (Manager HSE)		  32 700	 0.36 %
Knut Aaneland (Manager of Technology 
  & Business development)		  33 600	 0.37 %
Vigdis Wiik Jakobsen (Exploration 
  Manager Barents Sea)		  36 500	 0.40 %
Marion Høgmo (Administration 
  Manager)		  1 500	 0.02 %

Board of directors
Johan P. Barlindhaug (Chairman), 
  through JPB AS		  1 336 610	 14.53 %

Total		  1 635 260	 17.77 %

Note 11 Warrants

Of the outstanding subscription rights at 31 December 2009 
related to share-based payment for CEO and and six other 
employees of the management, 516,735 of these subscription 
rights were exercised within the expiry date in February 2010 
by Ninerik AS, a company controlled by CEO Erik Karlstrøm. 
Average subscription price was approx. NOK 12.70 per share. The 
remaining of these subscription rights expired 17 February 2010.

Of the outstanding subscription rights for shareholders at 
31 December 2009, all 1,400,520 subscription rights were exer
cised in February 2010. The subscription price was NOK 21.20 
per share.

At 31 December 2010 there are no outstanding subscription 
rights. 

The company had entered into a contract with the CEO and six 
other employees of the management, which gave them the right 
to subscribe for shares in the company.

CEO had the right to subscribe for shares such that he would 
own up to 2.5% of the outstanding shares in the company fol-
lowing the public share issue in connection with the listing on 
Oslo Axess. The subscription price per share was NOK 25 for 
shares bringing his shareholding up to 1.5% and NOK 0,10 for 
shares bringing his shareholding from 1.5% to 2.5%. Expiry date 
for the warrants was 17 February 2010. The exercise was subject 
to employment at the time of exercise of the warrants. A 3 years 
lock-in period for the shares subscribed according to the above 
applies. 

The other six employees of the management had the right to 
subscribe for shares such that they would own up to 0.5% of the 
outstanding shares in the company following the public share 
issue in connection with the listing on Oslo Axess. The subscripti-
on price per share was NOK 25. Expiry date for the warrants was 
17 February 2010. The exercise was subject to employment at 
the time of exercise of the warrants. A 3 years lock-in period for 
the shares subscribed according to the above applies. 

All warrants at 31 December 2009 were equity-settled. 

See note 5 for total expenses in the income statement arising 
from warrants granted to employees.
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Movement in estimated number of outstanding warrants for employees and average subscription price:

				    2010		  2009

			   Estimated	 Average	 Estimated	 Average
			   number of	 subscription price 	 number of	 subscription price
			   warrants	 NOK per share	 warrants	 NOK per share

Outstanding warrants at 1 January			   941 827	 19.04	 812 690	 17.37
Warrants granted			   0		  237 717	 19.01
Warrants forfeited			   0		  0	
Warrants exercised			   -516 735	 12.70	 -108 580	 6.43
Warrants expired			   -425 092	 25.00	 0	

Outstanding warrants at 31 December			   0		  941 827	 19.04

Weighted average fair value for warrants granted in 2009 was NOK 17.23 per warrant.

The fair value of the warrants has been estimated using Black & 
Scholes option-pricing model, based on the following assump-
tions:

Share price on the grant date:
The share price is estimated to NOK 25 – NOK 32. 

Expected volatility:
The expected volatility is stipulated to be 60%. This is based 
on observations on comparable companies on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange since the company was not listed at the grant dates. 

Weighted average expected term years:
Weighted average expected term years is 0.61 years for warrants 
granted in 2009 and 0.58 years for warrants granted in 2008.

Expected dividend yield:
The expected dividend per share is NOK 0 per annum

Expected risk-free interest rate:
The risk-free interest rate assumed when calculating fair value of 
the warrants is equal to the interest rate on government bonds 
during the term of the warrants (1.86% – 6.04%).

Note 12 Current borrowings

Current borrowings include:

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  2010	 2009

Revolving credit facility (’Exploration loan’ 
  with limit MNOK 300)		  0	 45 000

Balance 31 december		  0	 45 000

In 2009 North Energy ASA entered into a revolving credit facility 
agreement which entilted the company a loan up to NOK 300 

million. The loan is secured by a pledge in tax receivables from 
refund according to the Norwegian Petroleum Tax Act and the 
interests in production licences which the company at any time 
has. Interest rate was NIBOR + 1.1%. In December 2010 the Group 
has renewed and expanded its exploration loan facility from 
NOK 300 million to NOK 760 million. Interest rate is NIBOR + 2%. 

Note 13 Other current liabilities

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  2010	 2009

Public duties payable		  3 475	 3 760
Accruals, Joint Ventures		  25 657	 3 037
Vacation pay and bonus payable		  10 719	 9 105
Other accruals for incurred costs		  9 708	 5 403

Total		  49 559	 21 305

Note 14 Earnings per share

		  2010	 2009

Profit for the year (NOK 1 000)		  -62 916	 -64 417

Weighted average number of shares 
  outstanding 		  23 554 223	 7 978 807

Earnings per share (NOK per share) 
 - Basic		  -2.67	 -8.07
 - Diluted		  -2.67	 -8.07

The dilution effect of potentially shares from warrants, is in accor-
dance with IAS 33.41 not presented in the income statement, as 
the exercise of warrants would have reduced loss per share.
Refer to note 11 for number of outstanding warrants. 
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Note 15 Related parties

The company’s transactions with related parties:

Amounts in NOK 1 000

(a) Purchases of services
Purchase of services from	 Description of services	 2010	 2009

Origo Nord AS (management company for 
shareholder Origo Kapital AS)	 HR and other administrative services	 0	 186

Origo Økonomipartner AS (100% owned by 
Origo Nord AS, who is management company 
for shareholder Origo Kapital AS)	 Accounting services	 155	 450

Origo Nord AS (management company for 
shareholder Origo Kapital AS)	 Information-, web- and consulting services	 56	 150

Barlindhaug Consult AS (controlled by Chairman 
Johan Petter Barlindhaug)	 Consulting services	 51	 25

Services are purchased at market terms. 

(b) Remuneration to management and Board of directors
Refer to note 5 and note 11

(c) Loans to related parties
See note 5 for information about loans to management.

(d) Overview of subsidiaries
The following subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements:

Company	 Acquisition date	 Location	 Equity and voting share

4sea energy AS	 11-02-2010	 Norway	 100 %

Note 16 Tax

Specification of income tax: 

Amounts in NOK 1 000		   				    2010	 2009

Calculated refund tax value of exploration costs this year 					     347 728	 153 841
Of this refund not recognised in income statement (acquisition of licenses recognised net of tax)			   -67 258	 -2 147
Correction refund previous years						      -2 627	 -7 664
Change deferred tax in balance						      -45 791	 0
Of this deferred tax asset not recognised in income statement (acquisition of licenses recognised net of tax)	 -115	 0
Of this deferred tax asset related to items in comprehensive income recognised in comprehensive income	 -3 304	 0
Of this deferred tax asset related to equity transactions recognised directly in equity				    -7 037	 0

Total income tax credit						      221 596	 144 029

Specification of tax receivable refund tax value exploration expenses: 

Amounts in NOK 1 000						      31-12-10	 31-12-09

Calculated refund tax value of exploration costs this year 					     348 289	 153 841
Correction refund previous years, assessed but not settled					     -4 881	 0
Correction refund previous years, not yet assessed					     0	 -4 881
Correction refund previous years, assessed but appealed					     4 124	 0

Total tax receivable refund tax value exploration expenses					     347 532	 148 960

Oil-exploration companies operating on the Norwegian Continental Shelf may claim a 78 % refund of their exploration costs limited to 
taxable losses of the year. The refund is paid out in December the following year. 
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Specification of temporary differences, tax losses carried forward and deferred tax: 

Amounts in NOK 1 000						      31-12-10	 31-12-09

Property, plant and equipment						      4 279	 3 992
Capitalised exploration and license costs						      121 748	 8 776
Financial assets 						      97	 0
Pensions						      -9 752	 -2 738
Other current liabilities						      0	 -100
Tax losses carried forward, onshore						      -37 327	 0
Tax losses carried forward, offshore only 28% basis					     -31 308	 -6 480
Tax losses carried forward, offshore only 50% basis					     -870	 -854
Tax losses carried forward, offshore both 28% and 50% basis					     -64 614	 -25 759

Total basis for deferred tax						      -17 746	 -23 163
Deferred tax liability (-) / tax asset (+)						      -20 668	 14 592
Not capitalised deferred tax asset (valuation allowance) *					     -25 124	 -14 592

Deferred tax liability (-) / tax asset (+) in balance					     -45 791	 0

(*) Not capitalised deferred tax asset is mainly related to onshore tax loss carried forward and offshore tax losses carried forward in sub-
sidiary 4sea energy AS.

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

Amounts in NOK 1 000						      2010	 2009

Profit before tax						      -284 512	 -208 446
Expected income tax credit 78%						      221 919	 162 588
Adjusted for tax effects (28% - 78%) of the following items: 
   Permanent differences						      -18 298	 -9 510
   Correction previous years						      -57	 -8 645
   Interest on tax losses carried forward offshore					     448	 0
   Finance items						      2 555	 -2 960
   Change in valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and other items					     15 028	 2 556

Total income tax credit 						      221 596	 144 029

Note 17 Property, plant and equipment

Amounts in NOK 1 000�  Equipment, office machines etc. 

2010
Cost:
At 1.1.2010	 18 877
Additions - acquired separately	 7 076
Additions - acquired through acquisition of subsidiary 4sea 
energy AS	 298
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2010	 26 250

Depreciation and impairment:
At 1.1.2010	 -5 489
Depreciation this year	 -4 593
Impairment this year	 0
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2010	 -10 082

Carrying amount at 31.12.2010	 16 167

Amounts in NOK 1 000�  Equipment, office machines etc. 

2009
Cost:
At 1.1.2009	 17 673
Additions	 1 204
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2009	 18 877

Depreciation and impairment:
At 1.1.2009	 -2 075
Depreciation this year	 -3 414
Impairment this year	 0
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2009	 -5 489
�

Carrying amount at 31.12.2009	 13 387

Economic life	 3–10 years
Depreciation method	 linear
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Note 18 Capitalised and expensed exploration and 
license costs

(a) Capitalised exploration and license costs

Amounts in NOK 1 000 	 Capitalised exploration 
	 and license costs 

2010
Cost:
At 1.1.2010	 9 382
Additions - capitalised exploration and license costs *	 164 999
Additions - through acquisition of subsidiary 
  4sea energy AS **	 5 849
Disposals ***	 -52 016

At 31.12.2010	 128 214

Amortisation and impairment:
At 1.1.2010	 0
Amortisation this year	 0
Impairment this year ***	 52 016
Disposals ***	 -52 016

At 31.12.2010	 0
	

Carrying amount at 31.12.2010	 128 214

(*) Additions are mainly related to drilling of exploration well in 
license PL 433 where North Energy in addition to own share 
of 12 % carry 8 % of all expenses, and acquisition cost of license 
PL 341 recognised net of tax together with drilling of exploration 
well in license PL 341, where North Energy in addition to own 
share of 11 % carry 7 % of the drilling expenses for the first well.
(**) Additions include mainly license PL 498 (25 % share) and 
PL 503 (25 % share).  
(***) Disposals are related to impairment of capitalised expenses 
in license PL 341 due to dry well result. 

2009
Cost:
At 1.1.2009	 0
Additions – capitalised exploration and license costs ****	 9 382
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2009	 9 382

Amortisation and impairment:
At 1.1.2009	 0
Amortisation this year	 0
Impairment this year	 0
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2009	 0
	

Carrying amount at 31.12.2009	 9 382

(****) Additions in 2009 are mainly related to drilling of explo-
ration well in license PL 433 where North Energy in addition to 
own share of 12 % carry 8 % of all expenses, and acquisition cost 
of license PL 433 recognised net of tax.  

Depreciation method: Capitalised exploration and license costs 
will be depreciated using the unit-of-production method, if and 
when reserves are produced.

(b) Expensed exploration and license costs

Specification of expensed exploration and license costs:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Share of exploration expenses from 
  participation in licenses, incl. seismic, 
  G&G, dry wells, carry	 73 448	 40 900
Impairment of capitalised exploration 
  expenses	 52 016	 0
Seismic and other exploration costs	 53 585	 72 198

Total exploration and license costs	 179 049	 113 098 

Note 19 Finance income and costs

Finance income:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Interest income bank deposits	 4 236	 767
Interest income on tax refund	 2 864	 2 866
Other interest income	 202	 159
Foreign exchange gain	 2 158	 509
Other finance income	 5	 0

Total finance income	 9 464	 4 300

Finance costs:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Interest expense	 1 364	 5 018
Foreign exchange loss	 2 025	 84
Financial items, Joint Ventures	 1 337	 7
Other finance costs	 14	 5

Total finance costs	 4 740	 5 113
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Note 20 Financial instruments

(a) Categories of financial instruments

At 31 Desember 2010:

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  Loans and receivables	 Financial assets at fair

			    value through profit or loss

Assets:
Other non-current receivables 1		  11 934	 0
Other current receivables		  30 417	 0
Financial assets (money market fund)		  0	 4 674
Cash and cash equivalents		  86 015	 0

Total		  128 366	 4 674

Amounts in NOK 1 000			   Financial liabilities 
� measured at amortised cost

Liabilities:
Trade creditors			   47 185 
Other current liabilities 2			   36 375
Current borrowings			   0

Total			   83 560

At 31 Desember 2009:

Amounts in NOK 1 000� Loans and receivables

Assets:
Other non-current receivables 1			   6 410
Other current receivables			   8 020
Cash and cash equivalents			   45 671

Total			   60 101

Amounts in NOK 1 000� Financial liabilities 
� measured at amortised cost

Liabilities:
Trade creditors			   16 949
Other current liabilities 2			   12 142
Current borrowings			   45 000

Total			   74 091

1) Pension assets are excluded since they are not defined as 
financial instruments. 
2) Public duties payable and accruals for incurred costs are ex-
cluded since they are not defined as financial instruments. 

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value other non-current receivables:
The fair value of other non-current receivables is calculated by 
discounting cash flows with a rate equal to an alternative rate of 
5.0% (2009: 5.0%). The discount rate correspond to 10-year fixed-
rate loans with the addition of relevant credit rating. 

Amounts in NOK 1 000			   2010	 2009

Other non-current receivables			   9 268	 5 023

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents and other 
current receivables is approximately equal to fair value since 
these instruments have a short term to maturity. Similarly, the 
carrying amount of trade creditors, other current liabilities and 
current borrowings is approximately equal to fair value since the 
effect of discounting is not significant. The carrying amount of 
financial assets (money market fund) is equal to fair value.

(c) Creditworthiness of financial assets 

The Group does not have a system that separates receivables 
and loans on counterparty credit rating. Non-current receivables 
are mainly loans to employees. Loans to employees are repaid 
according to agreement and these loans have not been impai-
red in 2009 or 2010. Cash and cash equivalents and financial 
assets are receivables from two banks, and Standard & Poor’s 
credit rating of these banks is presented below:

			   2010	 2009

Bank deposits and investment in 
money market fund:			   90 688	 45 671

Amounts in NOK 1 000			   2010	 2009

No external credit rating			   0	 0
A			   90 688	 38 906
AA			   0	 6 765

Total			   90 688	 45 671

(d) Financial risk factors

See note 3 for financial risk factors and risk management, sensiti-
vity analysis and capital management.
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Note 21 Leases

North Energy has no finance leases. 

North Energy has entered into operating leases for office premi-
ses, cars, machinery and office furniture.  
The leases do not contain any restrictions on the company’s 
dividend policy or financing opportunities. 

The lease costs consist of the following:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Lease office premises (inclusive joint costs)	 5 695	 2 982
Lease machinery and office furniture	 736	 384
Lease cars	 1 009	 1 016
Sublease office premises	 -995	 0

Total lease costs 	 6 445	 4 382

The future minimum rents related to non-cancellable leases and 
subleases fall due as follows:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Within 1 year - leases	 1 378	 0
Within 1 year - subleases	 -1 256	 0
1 to 5 years - leases	 2 526	 0
1 to 5 years - subleases	 -523	 0
After 5 years	 0	 0

Total net lease	 2 124	 0

Note 22 Pension

Actuarial assumptions:
	 2010 	 2009 

Discount rate	 4.50 %	 3.80 %
Expected rate of return on plan assets 	 5.70 %	 5.80 %
Expected annual salary increases	 4.50 %	 4.00 %
Expected annual adjustment of pension 
  benefits	 4.25 %	 3.75 %
Expected rate of G-regulation	 4.25 %	 3.75 %
Mortality assumptions are based on 
  mortality table	 K2005	 K2005
Disability assumptions are based on 
  disability table	 IR02	 IR02

Pension expense recognised in income statement:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010 	 2009 

Current service cost	 8 917	 8 813
Interest cost	 604	 177
Expected return on plan assets	 -342	 -56
Social security cost	 514	 569
Total pension expense included in payroll 
  and related cost 	 9 693	 9 503

Specification of net pension liability:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010 	 2009 

Present value of funded obligations at 31.12 	 26 295	 13 699
Estimated fair value of plan assets at 31.12	 16 543	 10 961

Net pension liability	 9 752	 2 738

Classification of net pension liability in the balance sheet:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010 	 2009 

Other non-current receivables (note 7)	 5 594	 3 372
Pension liabilities	 15 346	 6 110

Net pension liability	 9 752	 2 738

One individual pension plan is over funded with TNOK 5 594 
at the end of 2009 (TNOK 3 372 at the end of 2009). The over 
funding will be used to cover future liabilities, but not liabilities 
concerning other pension plans that the company have. The 
amount is therefore classified as other non-current receivable.

Movement in the liability for defined benefit obligations 
during the year:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010 	 2009 

Defined benefit obligations at 1 January	 13 699	 5 963
Current service cost	 8 917	 8 813
Interest cost 	 604	 177
Actuarial losses / gains (-)	 3 075	 -1 254

Liability for defined benefit obligations 
  at 31 December	 26 295	 13 699

Movement in fair value of plan assets for defined benefit 
obligations: 

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010 	 2009 

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January	 10 961	 4 320
Expected return on plan assets	 342	 56
Actuarial losses (-) / gains	 -1 161	 -1 088
Employer contributions	 6 401	 7 673

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December	 16 543	 10 961

Plan assets are comprised as follows	 2010 	 2009 

Shares	 13.5 %	 3.8 %
Short-term bonds	 23.3 %	 29.9 %
Money market	 8.5 %	 14.0 %
Long-term bonds	 35.7 %	 28.8 %
Property	 16.6 %	 16.8 %
Other	 2.3 %	 6.7 %

Total	 100.0 %	 100.0 %

	 2010 	 2009 

Actual return on plan assets	 6.20 %	 4.70 %
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	 2011 	 2010 

Expected contributions to funded plans 
  next year	 4 550	 6 773

The pension arrangements fulfils the requirements in the 
Norwegian law of mandatory occupational pension (lov om 
obligatorisk tjenestepensjon).

Historic information:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010 	 2009 	 2008 

Present value of funded obligations per 31.12 	 26 295	 13 699	 5 963
Estimated fair value of plan assets per 31.12	 16 543	 10 961	 4 320

Net pension liability	 9 752	 2 738	 1 643

Experienced actuarial losses (-) / gains to the pension obligation	 -3 075	 1 254	 -2 495
Experienced actuarial losses (-) / gains to the plan assets	 -1 161	 -1 088	 -206

Net actuarial losses (-) / gains	 -4 236	 166	 -2 701
Recognised in comprehensive income (net of tax)	 -932	 166	 -2 701
Recognised in comprehensive income (net of tax), accumulated	 -3 467	 -2 535	 -2 701

Note 23 Contingent liabilities

North Energy has not been involved in any legal or financial disputes in 2010 or 2009, where adversely outcome is considered more 
likely than remote. 

Note 24 Shares in licenses and obligations

Shares in licenses at 31 December 2010:

License	 Share

PL 341 	 11 %
PL 385 	 15 %
PL 433	 12 %
PL 498	 25 %
PL 503	 25 %
PL 510	 20 %
PL 518/518B	 30 %
PL 526	 40 %
PL 530	 20 %
PL 535	 20 %
PL 536	 20 %
PL 562	 10 %
PL 564	 20 %

Obligations at 31 December 2010:

License	 Share	 Obligation	 Expected time	

PL 385 	 15 %	 One firm well. Carry 7,5% of the total license cost until completion of the first well. 	 Well 4Q-2011/
			   1Q-2012	

PL 518	 30 %	 One firm well and one contingent well (2-1). Well 2 contingent of positive results in well 1.	 First well 4Q-2011	

PL 530	 20 %	 One firm well and one contingent well (2-1) Well 2 contingent of positive results in well 1.	 First well 3Q-2011	

PL 535	 20 %	 One firm well.	 Well 2Q-2011	
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Shares in licenses at 31 December 2009:

License	 Share

PL 385 *	 15 %
PL 433	 12 %
PL 510	 20 %
PL 526	 40 %
PL 518	 30 %
PL 530	 20 %
PL 535	 20 %
PL 536	 20 %

(*) The farm-in of a 15% interest in license PL385 from Statoil has been approved by Norwegian authorities in January 2010.   

Obligations at 31 December 2009:

License	 Share	 Obligation	 Expected time	

PL 385 	 15 %	 One firm well. Carry 7,5% of the total license cost until completion of the first well. 	 4Q-2010	

PL 433	 12 %	 One firm well. Carry 8% of the total license cost until completion of the first well. 	 1Q-2010	

PL 518	 30 %	 One firm well and one contingent well (2-1). Well 2 contingent of positive results in well 1.	 First well 4Q-2011	

PL 530	 20 %	 One firm well and one contingent well (2-1). Well 2 contingent of positive results in well 1.	 First well 2011	

PL 535	 20 %	 Acquire a minimum of 500 km2 3D seismic and one firm well.	 Seismic 2010, 
			   drilling 2011	

PL 536	 20 %	 Acquire a minimum of 600 km2 3D seismic.	 2010	

Note 25 Acquisition of subsidiary

In February 2010 North Energy completed the acquisition of 
100 % of the outstanding shares in 4sea energy AS. The consid-
eration for the aquisition comprise 1,886,792 new issued shares 
in North Energy, each with par value of NOK 1 and at a price of 
NOK 26.5, i.e. total consideration of NOK 50 million. 4sea energy 
AS is a company in the exploration phase with 25 % interest in li-
cense PL 498 and 25 % interest in license PL 503. The acquisition 
is deemed as asset acquisition and not as a business combina-
tion, i.e. no deferred tax on initial differences between carrying 
values and tax bases is recorded, nor any goodwill is recorded at 
the date of acquisition. 

Note 26 Events after the balance sheet date

In January 2011 North Energy was awarded 5 new licenses, of 
this 1 operatorship in the APA 2010. Following this award the 
Group now holds a total of 19 licenses, of this 2 operatorship on 
the NCS.

North Energy has entered into an agreement with Wintershall 
Norge ASA for acquisition of a 10 % share in license PL 370 and 
acquisition of a 20 % share in license PL 385. Given governmen-
tal approval, North Energy will own 10% share in license PL 370 
and 35 % share in license PL 385 (North Energy already own 15 % 
share in license PL 385).

Note 27 Reserves (unaudited) 

The Group has reported reserves in accordance with guidelines 
in the Oslo Stock Exchange Circular 9/2009. 
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Annual financial statements and notes  
North Energy ASA

INCOME 
STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 2010	 2009

Payroll and related cost	 5	 -61 512	 -62 370
Depreciation and amortisation	 17	 -4 296	 -3 414
Exploration expenses	 18	 -177 071	 -113 098
Other operating expenses	 6	 -40 678	 -28 752

Operating profit 		  -283 556	 -207 633
			 
Finance income	 19	 8 524	 4 300
Finance costs	 19	 -4 734	 -5 113

Net financial items		  3 790	 -813
			 

Profit before income tax		  -279 766	 -208 446
			 
Income tax credit 	 16	 217 216	 144 029
			 

Profit for the year		  -62 550	 -64 417

(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 2010	 2009

Profit for the year		  -62 550	 -64 417
			 
Other comprehensive income, 
  net of tax:	 		
Actuarial gains/-losses pension	 22	 -932	 166

Total other comprehensive income, 
  net of tax		  -932	 166
			 

Total comprehensive income for the year		  -63 482	 -64 250
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(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 31-12-10	 31-12-09

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 17	 16 167	 13 387
Capitalised exploration and license costs	 18	 122 365	 9 382
Investment in subsidiaries	 14	 50 000	 0
Other receivables 	 7	 17 524	 9 782

Total non-current assets		  206 057	 32 551
			 
Current assets			 
Prepayments and other receivables	 8	 37 225	 15 118
Tax receivable refund tax value 
  exploration expenses 	 16	 342 591	 148 960
Cash and cash equivalents	 9	 49 366	 45 671

Total current assets		  429 182	 209 748

			 

Total assets		  635 239	 242 299

BALANCE 
SHEET
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(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 31-12-10	 31-12-09

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital	 10	 25 150	 9 201
Share premium		  606 141	 233 573
Other paid-in capital		  29 570	 26 999
Retained earnings		  -180 319	 -116 837

Total equity		  480 542	 152 935
			 
Liabilities			 
Non-current liabilities			 
Pension liabilities	 22	 15 346	 6 110
Deferred tax	 16	 45 791	 0

Total non-current liabilities		  61 137	 6 110
			 
Current liabilities			 
Current borrowings	 12	 0	 45 000
Trade creditors		  46 200	 16 949
Other current liabilities	 13	 47 360	 21 305

Total current liabilities		  93 560	 83 254

			 

Total liabilities		  154 697	 89 364

			 

Total equity and liabilities		  635 239	 242 299

Alta, 12 April 2011

Johan Petter Barlindhaug	 Kristin Ingebrigtsen 	 Ole Njærheim
Chairman	 Board member	 Board member

Guri Helene Ingebrigtsen	 Leif W. Finsveen 	 Arnulf Østensen
Board member	 Board member	 Board member

Hans Kristian Rød	 Heidi Marie Petersen	 Jørn Olsen
Board member	 Board member	 Board member

Erik Karlstrøm
CEO



58  |  North Energy - 2010 Annual Report

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
				    Other
		  Share 	 Share 	 paid-in	 Retained	 Total
(NOK 1 000)	 Note	 capital	 premium	 capital	 earnings	 equity

Equity at 1st of January 2009		  5 811	 147 639	 8 080	 -52 588	 108 943

Transactions with owners:						    
Share issues		  3 390	 94 319	 0	 0	 97 709
Share issue expenses		  0	 -5 442	 0	 0	 -5 442
Underwriters warrants		  0	 -2 944	 2 944	 0	 0
Share-based payment, warrants 	 11	 0	 0	 13 308	 0	 13 308
Share-based payment, bonus shares	 5	 0	 0	 2 667	 0	 2 667

Comprehensive income:						    
Total compehensive income for 2009		  0	 0	 0	 -64 250	 -64 250

Equity at 31st of December 2009		  9 201	 233 573	 26 999	 -116 837	 152 935
						    
Equity at 1st of January 2010		  9 201	 233 573	 26 999	 -116 837	 152 935

Transactions with owners:						    
Share issues		  15 949	 390 664	 0	 0	 406 612
Share issue expenses (net after tax)		  0	 -18 095	 0	 0	 -18 095
Share-based payment, bonus shares	 5	 0	 0	 2 571	 0	 2 571

Comprehensive income:						    
Total compehensive income for 2010		  0	 0	 0	 -63 482	 -63 482

Equity at 31st of December 2010		  25 150	 606 141	 29 570	 -180 319	 480 542
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(NOK 1 000)		  Note	 2010	 2009

Cash flow from operating activities	
Profit before income tax			   -279 766	 -208 446
Adjustments:				  
  Tax refunded		  16	 147 090	 98 221
  Deprecitiation		  17	 4 296	 3 414
  Impairment capitalised exploration expenses 		  18	 52 016	 0
  Pensions 			   2 778	 1 262
  Expensed share-based payment recognised in equity			   2 571	 15 975
  Changes in trade creditors			   29 250	 11 237
  Changes in other accruals			   3 948	 -2 491

Net cash flow from operating activities			   -37 818	 -80 827
				  
Cash flow from investing activities				  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		  17	 -7 076	 -1 204
Purchase of intangible assets		  16,18	 -232 372	 -11 529
Changes in other non-current receivables 		  7	 -5 520	 -2 079

Net cash flow from investing activities			   -244 968	 -14 811
				  
Cash flow from financing activities				  
Borrowings/repayments of current borrowings		  12	 -45 000	 35 711
Proceeds from share issues			   331 481	 92 267

Net cash flow from financing activities			   286 481	 127 978
				  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents			   3 695	 32 340
				  
Cash and cash equivivalents at 1st of January 		  9	 45 671	 13 331
				  

Cash and cash equivivalents at 31st of December		  9	 49 366	 45 671
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NoteS

Note 1 General information

North Energy ASA is a public limited company incorporated and 
domiciled in Norway, with its main office in Alta. The company’s 
shares were listed on Oslo Axess 5 February 2010. The 
company’s only business segment is exploration for oil and gas 
on the Norwegian continental shelf.

The financial statements were approved by the board of 
directors and CEO at 12 April 2011. 

Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis for preparation
The financial statements of North Energy ASA have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and in 
accordance with the additional requirements following the Nor-
wegian Accounting Act. 

2.2 Accounting policies
Accounting policies described in the consolidated financial state-
ments of North Energy Group also applies for North Energy ASA. 
See description of accounting policies in note 2 in the consolida-
ted financial statements of North Energy Group. Investment in 
subsidiaries are in the financial statements of North Energy ASA 
(parent company) valued at cost, less any necessary impairment. 
Impairment to recoverable amount will be carried out if impair-
ment indicators are present and recoverable amount is less than 
book value. Recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair 
value less costs required to sell the asset and its value in use. 
Impairments are reversed when the cause and basis of the initial 
impairment is no longer present.

Note 3 Financial risk management

See note 3 in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

See note 4 in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 5 Payroll and related cost, remuneration to board 
of directors and management

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Salaries			   42 264	 36 561
Share-based payment, bonus shares			   2 571	 2 667
Share-based payment, warrants			   0	 4 934
Payroll tax			   2 746	 2 325
Pension costs 			   9 693	 9 503
Other benefits			   4 238	 6 380

Total			   61 512	 62 370

Average number of employees			   42.7	 37.0

Remuneration to board of directors and management:
See note 5 in the consolidated financial statements.

Information about loan to employees, incl. interest benefit 
2010:
See note 5 in the consolidated financial statements.

The board of director’s declaration regarding determination of 
salary and other remuneration to management employees 
The board of directors shall prepare a declaration in accordance 
with the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act (All-
mennaksjeloven) §6-16a. In accordance with the Norwegian Ac-
counting Act §7-31b the content of this declaration is presented.  

The main principle for the company is that the renumeration to 
management is competitive in a way that the company is able to 
attract and retain competent management employees. The re-
muneration shall be competitive and based on individual criterias 
such as experience, area of responsibility and achievement of re-
sults. The remuneration system for management employees shall 
further stimulate a strong and lasting profit oriented organisation 
which contributes to increasing the shareholder value.

Total remuneration to management employees include:  
(1) Market based fixed salary.
(2) Bonus. The management is included in the company’s ge-
neral employee bonus program. The bonus is limited to 1/3 of 
fixed salary, with distribution 50/50 on cash and bonus shares, 
where the cash bonus is earned first. The bonus is linked to the 
achievement of specified parameters for each of the executive 
management’s area of responsibility. Both financial and non-
financial parameters are used. 
(3) Pension and insurance. The management is included in the 
company’s general pension and insurance scheme. CEO has in 
addition an early retirement pension scheme from the age of 62 
until the ordinary retirement age (67 years), where the pension is 
67% of last annual salary.   
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(4) Severance payment. CEO and CFO have agreements cove-
ring severance payment. In case of resignation at the request of 
the board of directors, they have the right to a severance pay-
ment equivalent with 2 years gross fixed salary. 
(5) Warrants granted. 
(6) Other benefits such as free car, loan interest rate benefit, and 
regular allowances to cover telephone, internet, training fee and 
travel insurance. 

Note 6 Other operating expenses and remuneration to 
auditor

Other operating expenses include:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Travelling expenses	 6 263	 5 084
Lease expenses 	 5 131	 4 382
Consultant’s and other fees	 8 135	 4 451
Advertising costs	 3 967	 3 578
Other administrative expenses	 17 181	 11 257

Total	 40 678	 28 752

Remuneration to auditor is allocated as specified below:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Audit	 310	 75
Tax assistance	 0	 49
Attestations	 102	 91
Legal assistance	 0	 71
Accounting assistance	 24	 778
Due diligence, prospectus	 215	 1 167

Total, excl. VAT	 651	 2 230

Note 7 Other non-current receivables

Other non-current receivables include:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Loan to employees (note 5 and 15)	 11 510	 5 989
Deposit	 421	 421
Pension assets (note 22)	 5 594	 3 372

Total	 17 524	 9 782

Note 8 Prepayments and other receivables

Prepayments and other receivables include:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Prepaid expenses 	 2 718	 2 960
VAT receivable	 4 156	 4 138
Receivables, Joint Ventures	 30 351	 8 013
Other items	 0	 7

Total	 37 225	 15 118

Note 9 Cash and cash equivalents

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Bank deposits	 49 366	 45 671

Total cash and cash equivalents	 49 366	 45 671

Of this:
   Restricted cash for witheld taxes from 
       employees salaries 	 3 012	 3 250
   Restricted cash on escrow account *	 0	 10 000

(*) Amount paid to an escrow account in 2009 in connection 
with acquisition of interest in license PL433. The amount has 
been released after the first drilling completed in 2010.

Note 10 Share capital and shareholder information

See note 10 in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 11 Warrants

See note 11 in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 12 Current borrowings

See note 12 in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 13 Other current liabilities

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  2010	 2009

Public duties payable		  3 463	 3 760
Accruals, Joint Ventures		  25 657	 3 037
Vacation pay and bonus payable		  10 662	 9 105
Other accruals for incurred costs		  7 579	 5 403

Total		  47 360	 21 305

Note 14 Investment in subsidiaries 

Amounts in NOK 1 000				  

Company	 Acquisition 		  Equity and	 Book
	 date	 Location	 voting share	 value

4sea energy AS	 11-02-2010	 Norway	 100.00 %	  50 000 

Total				    50 000

On 11 February 2010 North Energy ASA completed the acquisi-
tion of 100% of the outstanding shares in 4sea energy AS. The 
consideration for the aquisition comprise 1.886.792 new issued 
shares in North Energy ASA, each with par value of NOK 1 and 
at a price of NOK 26,5, i.e. total consideration of NOK 50 million. 
4sea energy AS is a company in the exploration phase with 25% 
interest in license PL 498 and 25% interest in license PL 503. 
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Note 15 Related parties

See note 15 in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 16 Tax

Specification of income tax: 

Amounts in NOK 1 000						      2010	 2009

Calculated refund tax value of exploration costs this year 						      343 348	 153 841
Of this refund not recognised in income statement (acquisition of licenses recognised net of tax)						      -67 258	 -2 147
Correction refund previous years						      -2 627	 -7 664
Change deferred tax in balance						      -45 791	 0
Of this deferred tax asset not recognised in income statement (acquisition of licenses 
  recognised net of tax)						      -115	 0
Of this deferred tax asset related to items in comprehensive income recognised in 
  comprehensive income						      -3 304	 0
Of this deferred tax asset related to equity transactions recognised directly in equity						      -7 037	 0

Total income tax credit						      217 216	 144 029

Specification of tax receivable refund tax value exploration expenses: 

Amounts in NOK 1 000						      31-12-10	 31-12-09

Calculated refund tax value of exploration costs this year 						      343 348	 153 841
Correction refund previous years, assessed but not settled						      -4 881	 0
Correction refund previous years, not yet assessed						      0	 -4 881
Correction refund previous years, assessed but appealed						      4 124	 0

Total tax receivable refund tax value exploration expenses						      342 591	 148 960

Oil-exploration companies operating on the Norwegian Continental Shelf may claim a 78 % refund of their exploration costs limited to 
taxable losses of the year. The refund is paid out in December the following year. 

Specification of temporary differences, tax losses carried forward and deferred tax: 

Amounts in NOK 1 000						      31-12-10	 31-12-09

Property, plant and equipment						      4 462	 3 992
Capitalised exploration and license costs						      121 748	 8 776
Financial assets 						      0	 0
Pensions						      -9 752	 -2 738
Other current liabilities						      0	 -100
Tax losses carried forward, onshore						      0	 0
Tax losses carried forward, offshore only 28% basis						      -27 782	 -6 480
Tax losses carried forward, offshore only 50% basis						      -870	 -854
Tax losses carried forward, offshore both 28% and 50% basis						      -47 217	 -25 759

Total basis for deferred tax						      40 589	 -23 163
Deferred tax liability (-) / tax asset (+)						      -45 791	 14 592
Not capitalised deferred tax asset (valuation allowance) 						      0	 -14 592

Deferred tax liability (-) / tax asset (+) in balance						      -45 791	 0
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

Amounts in NOK 1 000						      2010	 2009

Profit before tax						      -279 766	 -208 446
Expected income tax credit 78 %						      218 218	 162 588
Adjusted for tax effects (28 % – 78 %) of the following items: 
   Permanent differences						      -18 072	 -9 510
   Correction previous years						      -57	 -8 645
   Interest on tax losses carried forward offshore						      448	 0
   Finance items						      2 088	 -2 960
   Change in valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and other items						      14 592	 2 556

Total income tax credit 						      217 216	 144 029

Note 17 Property, plant and equipment

Amounts in NOK 1 000� Equipment, office machines etc. 

2010
Cost:
At 1.1.2010	 18 877
Additions	 7 076
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2010	 25 952

Depreciation and impairment:
At 1.1.2010	 -5 489
Depreciation this year	 -4 296
Impairment this year	 0
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2010	 -9 785
	

Carrying amount at 31.12.2010	 16 167

2009
Cost:
At 1.1.2009	 17 673
Additions	 1 204
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2009	 18 877

Depreciation and impairment:
At 1.1.2009	 -2 075
Depreciation this year	 -3 414
Impairment this year	 0
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2009	 -5 489
	

Carrying amount at 31.12.2009	 13 387

Economic life	 3–10 years
Depreciation method	 linear

Note 18 Capitalised and expensed exploration and 
license costs

(a) Capitalised exploration and license costs

Amounts in NOK 1 000�  Capitalised exploration and license costs 

2010
Cost:
At 1.1.2010	 9 382
Additions *	 164 999
Disposals **	 -52 016

At 31.12.2010	 122 365

Amortisation and impairment:
At 1.1.2010	 0
Amortisation this year	 0
Impairment this year **	 52 016
Disposals **	 -52 016

At 31.12.2010	 0
	

Carrying amount at 31.12.2010	 122 365

(*) Additions are mainly related to drilling of exploration well in 
license PL 433 where North Energy in addition to own share of 
12% carry 8% of all expenses, and acquisition cost of license PL 
341 recognised net of tax together with drilling of exploration 
well in license PL 341, where North Energy in addition to own 
share of 11% carry 7% of the drilling expenses for the first well.
(**) Disposals are related to impairment of capitalised expenses 
in license PL 341 due to dry well result. 
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Amounts in NOK 1 000�  Capitalised exploration and license costs 

2009
Cost:
At 1.1.2009	 0
Additions ***	 9 382
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2009	 9 382

Amortisation and impairment:
At 1.1.2009	 0
Amortisation this year	 0
Impairment this year	 0
Disposals	 0

At 31.12.2009	 0
	

Carrying amount at 31.12.2009	 9 382

(***) Additions in 2009 are mainly related to drilling of explora-
tion well in license PL 433 where North Energy in addition to 
own share of 12% carry 8% of all expenses, and acquisition cost 
of license PL 433 recognised net of tax.  

Depreciation method: Capitalised exploration and license costs 
will be depreciated using the unit-of-production method, if and 
when reserves are produced.

(b) Expensed exploration and license costs

Specification of expensed exploration and license costs:

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  2010	 2009

Share of exploration expenses from 
participation in licenses, incl. seismic, 
G&G, dry wells, carry		  71 470	 40 900
Impairment of capitalised exploration 
expenses		  52 016	 0
Seismic and other exploration costs		  53 585	 72 198

Total exploration and license costs		  177 071	 113 098

Note 19 Finance income and costs

Finance income:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Interest income bank deposits	 3 660	 767
Interest income on tax refund	 2 504	 2 866
Other interest income	 202	 159
Foreign exchange gain	 2 158	 509
Other finance income	 1	 0

Total finance income	 8 524	 4 300

Finance costs:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Interest expense	 1 359	 5 018
Foreign exchange loss	 2 024	 84
Financial items, Joint Ventures	 1 337	 7
Other finance costs	 14	 5

Total finance costs	 4 734	 5 113

Note 20 Financial instruments

(a) Categories of financial instruments

At 31 Desember 2010:
Amounts in NOK 1 000� Loans and receivables

Assets:
Other non-current receivables 1			   11 931
Other current receivables			   30 351
Cash and cash equivalents			   49 366

Total			   91 648

Amounts in NOK 1 000� Financial liabilities measured 
� at amortised cost”

Liabilities:
Trade creditors			   46 200
Other current liabilities 2			   36 318
Current borrowings			   0

Total			   82 518

At 31 Desember 2009:

Amounts in NOK 1 000	�  Loans and receivables

Assets:
Other non-current receivables 1			   6 410
Other current receivables			   8 020
Cash and cash equivalents			   45 671

Total			   60 101

Amounts in NOK 1 000� Financial liabilities measured 
� at amortised cost

Liabilities:
Trade creditors			   16 949
Other current liabilities 2			   12 142
Current borrowings			   45 000

Total			   74 091

1) Pension assets are excluded since they are not defined as 
financial instruments. 
2) Public duties payable and accruals for incurred costs are ex-
cluded since they are not defined as financial instruments. 
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(b) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value other non-current receivables:
The fair value of other non-current receivables is calculated by 
discounting cash flows with a rate equal to an alternative rate of 
5.0% (2009: 5.0%). The discount rate correspond to 10-year fixed-
rate loans with the addition of relevant credit rating. 

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  2010	 2009

Other non-current receivables		  9 265	 5 023

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents and other 
current receivables is approximately equal to fair value since 
these instruments have a short term to maturity. Similarly, the 
carrying amount of trade creditors, other current liabilities and 
current borrowings is approximately equal to fair value since the 
effect of discounting is not significant. 

(c) Creditworthiness of financial assets 

The company does not have a system that separates receivables 
and loans on counterparty credit rating. Non-current receivables 
are mainly loans to employees. Loans to employees are repaid 
according to agreement and these loans have not been impai-
red in 2009 or 2010. Cash and cash equivalents are receivables 
from two banks, and Standard & Poor’s credit rating of these 
banks is presented below:

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  2010	 2009

Bank deposits:		  49 366	 45 671

Amounts in NOK 1 000		  2010	 2009

No external credit rating		  0	 0
A		  49 366	 38 906
AA		  0	 6 765

Total		  49 366	 45 671

(d) Financial risk factors

See note 3 for financial risk factors and risk management, sensi
tivity analysis and capital management.  

Note 21 Leases

The company has no finance leases. 
The company has entered into operating leases for office premi-
ses, cars, machinery and office furniture. 
The leases are cancellable and do not contain any restrictions on 
the company’s dividend policy or financing opportunities. 

The lease costs consist of ordinary lease payments and include: 

Amounts in NOK 1 000	 2010	 2009

Lease office premises (inclusive joint costs)	 3 962	 2 982
Lease machinery and office furniture	 161	 384
Lease cars	 1 009	 1 016

Total lease costs 	 5 131	 4 382

Note 22 Pension

See note 22 in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 23 Contingent liabilities

The company has not been involved in any legal or financial dis-
putes in 2010 or 2009, where adversely outcome is considered 
more likely than remote. 

Note 24 Shares in licenses and obligations

Shares in licenses at 31 December 2010:

License	 Share

PL 341 	 11 %
PL 385 	 15 %
PL 433	 12 %
PL 510	 20 %
PL 518/518B	 30 %
PL 526	 40 %
PL 530	 20 %
PL 535	 20 %
PL 536	 20 %
PL 562	 10 %
PL 564	 20 %



66  |  North Energy - 2010 Annual Report

Obligations at 31 December 2010:

License	 Share	 Obligation	 Expected time	

PL 385 	 15 %	 One firm well. Carry 7,5% of the total license cost until completion of the first well. 	 Well 4Q-2011/
			   1Q-2012	

PL 518	 30 %	 One firm well and one contingent well (2-1). Well 2 contingent of positive results in well 1.	 First well 4Q-2011	

PL 530	 20 %	 One firm well and one contingent well (2-1). Well 2 contingent of positive results in well 1.	 First well 3Q-2011	

PL 535	 20 %	 One firm well.	 Well 2Q-2011	

Shares in licenses at 31 December 2009:

License	 Share

PL 385 *	 15 %
PL 433	 12 %
PL 510	 20 %
PL 526	 40 %
PL 518	 30 %
PL 530	 20 %
PL 535	 20 %
PL 536	 20 %

(*) The farm-in of a 15% interest in license PL385 from Statoil has been approved by Norwegian authorities in January 2010.   

Obligations at 31 December 2009:

License	 Share	 Obligation	 Expected time	

PL 385 	 15 %	 One firm well. Carry 7,5% of the total license cost until completion of the first well. 	 4Q-2010	

PL 433	 12 %	 One firm well. Carry 8% of the total license cost until completion of the first well. 	 1Q-2010	

PL 518	 30 %	 One firm well and one contingent well (2-1). Well 2 contingent of positive results in well 1.	 First well 4Q-2011	

PL 530	 20 %	 One firm well and one contingent well (2-1). Well 2 contingent of positive results in well 1.	 First well 2011	

PL 535	 20 %	 Acquire a minimum of 500 km2 3D seismic and one firm well.	 Seismic 2010, 
			   drilling 2011	

PL 536	 20 %	 Acquire a minimum of 600 km2 3D seismic.	 2010	

Note 25 Events after the balance sheet date

See note 26 in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 26 Reserves (unaudited) 

See note 27 in the consolidated financial statements.
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Responsibility statement  
by the Board of Directors and CEO

We declare, to the best of our judgement, that the annual financial statements for the period 
from 1 January to 31 December 2010 have been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards, and that the information in the accounts fairly reflects the company’s 
and group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and results as a whole. We also declare that 
the Board of Directors’ report provides a true and fair view of the company’s and group’s 
performance, results and position, along with a description of the most important risk and 
uncertainty factors facing the company and group.

Alta, 12 April 2011

Johan Petter Barlindhaug	 Kristin Ingebrigtsen 	 Ole Njærheim
Chairman	 Board member	 Board member

Guri Helene Ingebrigtsen	 Leif W. Finsveen 	 Arnulf Østensen
Board member	 Board member	 Board member

Hans Kristian Rød	 Heidi Marie Petersen	 Jørn Olsen
Board member	 Board member	 Board member

Erik Karlstrøm
CEO



Revisors beretning
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Terms and expressions

•	HSE – Health, Safety and the Environment

•	PL – production licence

•	PDO – Plan for Development and Operation that is submitted to 
the authorities for approval

•	APA – Allocation of Predefined Areas, an annual licensing round in 
mature sections of the Norwegian continental shelf

•	NPD – Norwegian Petroleum Directorate

•	PSAN – Petroleum Safety Authority Norway

•	MPE – Ministry of Petroleum and Energy

•	SPE – Society of Petroleum Engineers

•	G&G – Geology and Geophysics

•	2D seismology – powerful echo sounder that receives reflected 
subsurface sound from along straight lines

•	3D seismology – like 2D seismology, but the sound is captured by 
a network of receivers, so that a three-dimensional underground 
picture can be created. Smaller oil traps can often only be sur-
veyed with 3D seismology.

•	EM – electromagnetic surveys (also referred to as seabed log-
ging). This is set up as an electromagnetic field on the seabed or 
in the sea that measures underground electrical resistivity.

•	AMI – Area of Mutual Interest, formal licence application coopera-
tion

•	Prospect – a defined volume that is surveyed, where it is probable 
that hydrocarbons are present

•	Reserves – proven petroleum that will definitely be produced in 
accordance with the SPE Standard

•	Resources – Proven petroleum that will not definitely be produ-
ced, as well as estimates of petroleum in surveyed prospects 
that have not yet been drilled. Classified in accordance with the 
Norwegian Petroleum Directorate’s definitions. P10, P50, P90 – 10 
per cent, 50 per cent and 90 per cent probability, respectively

•	1 Sm3 – a standard cubic metre = 6.293 barrels of oil. 1 Sm3 of oil 
corresponds to 1000 Sm3 of gas (an oil equivalent or o.e.) 
1 barrel of oil – a tierce, which corresponds to 1 drum = 42 gallons 
≈ 159 litres.
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